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ESCROW AGREEMENT 
 
 

THIS ESCROW AGREEMENT (the "Agreement") is made as of [DATE], by and among  Coral Reef 
Retail LLC (“CR Retail”), Coral Reef Resi PH I LLC (“CR Resi” and together with CR Retail, the "CR Group"), 
the  United  States  Fish  and  Wildlife  Service  (“USFWS”),  and  Gunster,  Yoakley  &  Stewart,  P.A.  (the 
"Escrow Agent"). 

WHEREAS, the CR Group anticipates the USFWS will issue an Incidental Take Permit and Habitat 
Conservation Plan relating to the development of Coral Reef Commons (“CRC”) in Miami‐Dade County, 
Florida  (the “Permit”), and  in accordance with  the Permit,  the CR Group will agree  to  implement and 
maintain  the On‐site Conservation Program as described  in  the Permit and  in doing so undertake  the 
activities  described  in  Permit  pertaining  to  Year  1  of  the On‐site Conservation  Program  (the  “Year  1 
Work”) at the estimated cost of $707,032.00; 

WHEREAS,  the  CR  Group  has  agreed  to  place with  Escrow  Agent  certain  funds  as  specified 
herein, which will be held in escrow pursuant to the terms hereof and serve as financial assurance to the 
USFWS of the CR Group’s performance of the Year 1 Work;  

WHEREAS, the Preserve Biologist is a defined person in the Permit and will assist the CR Group 
in determining when Year 1 Work is completed; and 

WHEREAS, the Escrow Agent has consented to act as escrow agent and to receive and hold the 
funds  in escrow for the benefit of the CR Group and to satisfy the terms and conditions of the Permit, 
upon the terms hereinafter set forth. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements contained herein, 
and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which is hereby acknowledged, 
the parties hereto agree as follows: 

1.  Escrow Deposit. 

Simultaneously with  the execution of  this Agreement,  the CR Group will deposit with Escrow 
Agent  funds  in  the  amount  of  Seven  Hundred  and  Seven  Thousand  and  Thirty‐Two  U.S.  Dollars 
($707,032.00) by wire  transfer  to  the  account designated on  Exhibit A  (the  “Escrowed  Funds”).   The 
Escrow Agent shall hold the Escrowed Funds in escrow, in an account which is not required to be insured 
by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation ("FDIC") and which shall not bear interest.   

2.  Disbursement of Escrowed Funds.  

Escrow Agent shall disburse the Escrowed Funds as follows:  

(a) Instructions for Disbursing Funds to Reimburse for Completion of Year 1 Work.  
Monthly disbursements to the CR Group for completed work are anticipated so that the CR Group may 
pay  invoices  for  Year  1  Work,  as  such  work  is  completed  and  certified  in  accordance  with  this 
Agreement.  For all Year 1 Work, invoices will be submitted to the CR Group on a monthly basis for the 
work  required  by  the  Permit.  The  CR Group  (either  CR  Retail  or  CR  Resi,  or  both)  and  the  Preserve 
Biologist will submit a monthly written certification to Escrow Agent, certifying that the portion of Year 1 
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Work  and  related  invoice  undertaken  in  that month were  completed  in  compliance with  the  Permit 
requirements.  The written  certification  to  the  Escrow Agent  shall  request  a  disbursement  of  Escrow 
Funds  in  the  amount of  the  submitted  certified  invoice.   When  the  Escrow Agent  receives  a written 
certification, the Escrow Agent shall distribute to CR Retail, CR Resi, or both (as appropriate) the amount 
of  funds  from  the Escrow  to pay  the  certified  invoice.  Invoices  that are not  certified by at  least one 
entity  in the CR Group and the Preserve Biologist shall be rejected by the Escrow Agent. To the extent 
there are Escrow Funds that are not distributed to pay certified invoices by the end of Year 1 Work or by 
November 30, 2018,  these  remaining Escrow Funds  shall be distributed  to an entity  in  the CR Group 
upon  the written certification  from at  least one entity  in  the CR Group and Preserve Biologist  that all 
Year 1 Work was completed in compliance with Permit requirements. 

(b) Instructions  for When No Written Certification has been Delivered.   Except as 
may be otherwise provided in this Agreement, if Escrow Agent has not received written certification as 
described above, Escrow Agent shall hold the Escrowed Funds until Escrow Agent shall receive a final, 
non‐appealable order  (the "Order”) of a court of competent  jurisdiction concerning  the disposition of 
the Escrowed Funds, in which event Escrow Agent shall disburse the Escrowed Funds in accordance with 
the Order.  This provision is not intended to limit Escrow Agent’s rights under Paragraph 6 or 10 hereof. 

(c) Instructions  for  Disbursing  Escrow  Funds  for  Failure  to  Satisfy  Year  1 Work.  
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Escrow Agent will, upon receipt of written instruction from USFWS that 
the  CR  Group  has  failed  to  satisfy  the  Year  1 Work  and  is  in  violation  of  the  Permit,  disburse  any 
remaining Escrowed Funds to an entity USFWS designates in writing to the Escrow Agent.  

3.  Agreement with Escrow Agent. 

To  induce Escrow Agent to act hereunder, the CR Group and USFWS further acknowledge and 
agree that: 

  (a)   Escrow Agent shall not be under any duty to give the escrowed property held 
by it hereunder any greater degree of care than it gives its own similar property. 

  (b)  This Agreement expressly sets forth all the duties of Escrow Agent with respect 
to  any  and  all matters  pertinent  hereto.    No  implied  duties  or  obligations  shall  be  read  into  this 
Agreement against Escrow Agent.  Escrow Agent shall not be bound by the provisions of any agreement 
between the CR Group and the USFWS except this Agreement. 

  (c)  Escrow  Agent  shall  have  no  liability  with  regard  to  any  duty  under  this 
Agreement and shall not be responsible for the loss of the escrowed property, errors of judgment, any 
act done or step taken or omitted by Escrow Agent, mistakes  in fact or  law, or anything Escrow Agent 
may  do  or  refrain  from  doing  in  connection  herewith,  except  in  the  event  of willful  and  intentional 
misconduct on the part of Escrow Agent.   

  (d)   Escrow  Agent may  act  pursuant  to  the  advice  of  counsel  (including  lawyers 
employed by Escrow Agent) with  respect  to any matter  relating  to  this Agreement, and  shall not be 
liable for any action taken or omitted in accordance with such advice. 

  (e)  Escrow Agent does not have any  interest  in  the escrowed property deposited 
hereunder but is serving as escrow holder only. 
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  (f)  Escrow Agent makes no representation as to the validity, value, genuineness or 
the collectability of any security or other documents or instrument held by or delivered to Escrow Agent. 

  (g)  Escrow Agent shall have no responsibility for the contents of any writing of any 
third party contemplated herein as a means to resolve disputes, and may rely without any liability upon 
the contents thereof. 

  (h)  Escrow Agent shall not be responsible in any manner whatsoever for any failure 
or inability of the CR Group to perform or comply with any provisions of this Agreement. 

(i)  If Escrow Agent  is  faced with  inconsistent claims or demands of  the parties  to 
this  Agreement,  Escrow  Agent  may  refuse  to  take  further  action  until  directed  to  do  so  by  joint 
instruction of the CR Group and the USFWS, or until Escrow Agent shall have received instructions from 
a court of competent jurisdiction. 

(j)  Escrow  Agent’s  duties  and  responsibilities  shall  be  determined  only  with 
reference  to  this  Agreement.  Escrow  Agent  is  not  charged  with  any  duties  or  responsibilities  in 
connection with any other document or agreement.  Escrow Agent is not charged with any knowledge of 
any other document or agreement. 

(k)  Escrow Agent may execute any of its powers or responsibilities hereunder either 
directly or by or through its officers, employees, agents or attorneys. 

4.  Reliance on Documents by the Escrow Agent.  

The  Escrow Agent  shall  be  entitled  to  rely  upon  any  order,  judgment,  certification,  demand, 
notice,  instrument,  Release  Notice,  Notice  of  Objection  or  other writing  delivered  to  Escrow  Agent 
hereunder without being required  to determine  the authenticity or  the correctness of any  fact stated 
therein or the propriety or validity of the service thereof.   The Escrow Agent may act  in reliance upon 
any writing or  instrument or signature which  it,  in good faith, believes to be genuine, may assume the 
validity and accuracy of any statement or assertion contained in such a writing or instrument, and may 
assume  that  any person purporting  to  give  any writing, notice, or other document has been  so duly 
authorized.  The Escrow Agent shall not be liable in any manner for the sufficiency or correctness as to 
form, manner  and  execution,  or  validity  of  any  instrument  deposited  in  the  escrow  created  by  this 
Agreement, nor as to the  identity, authority, or right of any person executing the same; and  its duties 
hereunder shall be limited to the safekeeping of monies, instruments, or other documents received by it 
as Escrow Agent under this Agreement, and for the disposition of the same in accordance with the terms 
and conditions of this Agreement.  

5.  Indemnification of Escrow Agent.  

Except in cases of the Escrow Agent's willful misconduct, CR Retail and CR Resi each, jointly and 
severally, agrees to indemnify the Escrow Agent and hold it harmless from any and all claims, liabilities, 
losses, actions, suits or proceedings at  law or  in equity, or any other expenses, fees, or charges of any 
character or nature which Escrow Agent may  incur or with which  it may be  threatened by  reason of 
Escrow Agent's actions as Escrow Agent under this Agreement; and, in connection therewith, except in 
cases  of willful misconduct,  to  indemnify  the  Escrow  Agent  against  any  and  all  expenses,  including 
without  limitation  reasonable  attorneys'  fees  and  expenses  (including but not  limited  to  all  fees  and 
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costs  incident to any appeals which may result).   The Escrow Agent may  itself defend any suit brought 
against it and shall be equally entitled to receive reasonable attorneys' fees and expenses (including but 
not limited to all fees and costs incident to any appeals which may result), except in cases of the Escrow 
Agent's willful misconduct. 

6.  Discretion of Escrow Agent to File an Interpleader Action in the Event of Dispute.  

If the parties,  including the Escrow Agent, are  in disagreement about the  interpretation of this 
Agreement, or about the rights and obligations of or the propriety of any action contemplated by the 
Escrow Agent under this Agreement, or if the Escrow Agent receives any conflicting demands or claims 
regarding any monies, instruments or documents delivered to the Escrow Agent, the Escrow Agent may, 
but  shall not be  required  to,  file an action  in  interpleader  to  resolve any disagreement  in a  court of 
competent  jurisdiction  in Palm Beach County, Florida.   The Escrow Agent  shall be  indemnified  for all 
costs, including without limitation reasonable attorneys' fees and expenses (including but not limited to 
all fees and costs  incident to any appeals that may result),  in connection with any  interpleader action, 
and shall be fully protected in suspending all or a part of its activities under this Agreement until a final 
and unappealable judgment or order in the interpleader action is rendered. 

7.  Consultation with Counsel.  

The Escrow Agent may consult with counsel of  its own choice and shall have full and complete 
authorization and protection to act or not to act  in accordance with the opinion of such counsel as to 
any matters in connection with this Agreement to the extent that any act or failure to act undertaken on 
the advice of counsel  is undertaken  in good  faith and  is not contrary  to  the specific provisions of  this 
Agreement.  

8.  Standard of Care.  

The Escrow Agent shall not be liable for any mistakes of fact or error of judgment, or for any acts 
or omissions of any kind, unless caused by willful misconduct.  

9.  Representation by Escrow Agent.   

Escrow Agent  is  the  law  firm  representing  the CR Group  and may  continue  to  represent  any 
entity or entities in the CR Group in this or any other matter, including litigation arising from the Permit. 

10.  Resignation of Escrow Agent.  

The Escrow Agent may resign upon ten  (10) days written notice to any entity  in the CR Group 
and USFWS.    If a successor Escrow Agent  ("Successor Escrow Agent")  is not appointed within  this  ten 
(10) day period, the Escrow Agent may petition a court of competent jurisdiction in Palm Beach County, 
Florida  to name a successor.   Any Successor Escrow Agent shall have  the same  rights and obligations 
under this Agreement as the Escrow Agent; provided, however, that any Successor Escrow Agent shall 
not be held liable for any acts or omissions of the Escrow Agent or any prior Successor Escrow Agent.  
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11.  Notices.  

Any  notice,  request,  demand,  waiver,  consent,  approval,  or  other  communication  which  is 
required or permitted under this Agreement shall be  in writing and shall be deemed given:  (a) on the 
date  established  by  the  sender  as  having  been  delivered  personally;  (b)  on  the  date  delivered  by  a 
private courier, as established by the sender by evidence obtained from the courier; (c) on the date sent 
by email, with confirmation of transmission, if sent during normal business hours of the recipient or, if 
not,  then on  the next business day; or  (d) on  the  fourth  (4th) business day after  the date mailed, by 
certified or  registered mail,  return  receipt  requested, postage prepaid. To be valid, a notice or other 
communication must be addressed as follows: 
 
If to the CR Group:  
 
Coral Reef Resi PH I LLC 
Coral Reef Retail LLC 
4801 PGA Boulevard 
Palm Beach Gardens, FL 33418 
Attention: Kerry‐Ann Wilson  
Email: Kwilson@ramrealestate.com 
Phone: 561‐630‐6110 
 
If to USFWS: 
 
United States Fish and Wildlife Service 
South Florida Ecological Services Office  
1339 20th Street 
Vero Beach, FL 32960‐3559 
Attention: Ashliegh Blackford  
Email: Verobeach@fws.gov  
Phone: 772‐562‐3909 
 
If to the Escrow Agent: 
 
Gunster, Yoakley & Stewart, P.A. 
450 E. Las Olas Boulevard  
Suite 1400 
Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301 
Attention: Luna E. Phillips, Esq. 
Email: lphillips@gunster.com 
Phone: 954‐712‐1478 
 
or to such other address or to the attention of such person as the recipient party has specified by prior 
written  notice  to  the  sending  party  (or  in  the  case  of  counsel,  to  such  other  readily  ascertainable 
business address as such counsel may hereafter maintain). If more than one method for sending notice 
as set forth above is used, the earliest notice date established as set forth above shall control. 
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12.  The CR Group’s Designated Representatives.   

Each  entity  constituting  the  CR  Group  hereby  authorizes  each  of  Karen  Geller,  Esq.,  Hugo 
Pacanins, and Kerry‐Ann Wilson to be its designated representative, or any one of them with individual 
power of substitution, with  full power and authority  to provide any notice on behalf of  the CR Group 
permitted or required hereunder, including any notices to Escrow Agent with respect to the disposition 
of the Escrowed Funds. 

  13.  USFWS’s Designated Representative.   

USFWS hereby authorizes  the person holding  the  title Supervisory Wildlife Biologist, Planning 
and Resource Conservation East, to be  its designated representative, with  full power and authority to 
provide  any  notice  on  behalf  of  USFWS  permitted  or  required  hereunder,  including  any  notices  to 
Escrow Agent with respect to the disposition of the Escrowed Funds. 

14.  Successors and Assigns.  

The rights created by this Agreement shall  inure to the benefit of, and the obligations created 
hereby  shall be binding upon,  the  legal  representatives, administrators,  successors and assigns of  the 
parties to this Agreement. 

15.  Entire Agreement.  

This Agreement and all exhibits and schedules attached to this Agreement, if any, represent the 
entire understanding  and  agreement  between  the parties with  respect  to  the  subject matter of  this 
Agreement, and supersedes all other negotiations, understandings and representations (if any), whether 
oral or written, made by and between such parties. 

16.  Amendments.  

The  provisions  of  this  Agreement may  not  be  amended,  supplemented, waived  or  changed 
orally, but only by  a writing  signed by  the  party  as  to whom  enforcement  of  any  such  amendment, 
supplement, waiver or modification is sought and making specific reference to this Agreement.  

17.  Assignments.  

No party  shall  assign his or  its  rights  and/or obligations hereunder without  the prior written 
consent of each other party to this Agreement.  

18.  Survival.  

All covenants, agreements, representations and warranties made herein or otherwise made  in 
writing by any party pursuant hereto shall survive the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the 
consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby.  
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19.  Waivers.  

The  failure or delay of any party at any  time  to  require performance by another party of any 
provision  of  this  Agreement,  even  if  known,  shall  not  affect  the  right  of  such  party  to  require 
performance of that provision or to exercise any right, power or remedy hereunder.  Any waiver by any 
party of  any breach of  any provision of  this Agreement  should not be  construed  as  a waiver of  any 
continuing or succeeding breach of such provision, a waiver of  the provision  itself, or a waiver of any 
right,  power  or  remedy  under  this  Agreement.    No  notice  to  or  demand  on  any  party  in  any 
circumstance  shall, of  itself, entitle  such party  to any other or  further notice or demand  in  similar or 
other circumstances. 

20.  Governing Law.  

This Agreement and all transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall be governed by, and 
construed and enforced  in accordance with, the  internal  laws of the State of Florida without regard to 
principles of conflicts of laws. 

21.  Enforcement Costs.  

If any civil action, arbitration or other  legal proceeding  is brought  for  the enforcement of  this 
Agreement, or because of an alleged dispute, breach, default or misrepresentation  in connection with 
any provision of this Agreement, the successful or prevailing party or parties shall be entitled to recover 
reasonable attorneys' fees, sales and use taxes, court costs and all expenses even if not taxable as court 
costs  (including, without  limitation,  all  such  fees,  taxes,  costs  and  expenses  incident  to  arbitration, 
appellate, bankruptcy and post‐judgment proceedings),  incurred  in that proceeding,  in addition to any 
other  relief  to which  such  party  or  parties may  be  entitled.    Attorneys'  fees  shall  include, without 
limitation,  paralegal  fees,  investigative  fees,  administrative  costs,  sales  and  use  taxes  and  all  other 
charges billed by the attorney to the prevailing party.  

22.  Remedies Cumulative.  

Except  as  otherwise  expressly  provided  in  this  Agreement,  no  remedy  in  this  Agreement 
conferred upon any party  is  intended  to be exclusive of any other  remedy, and each and every  such 
remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to every other remedy given under this Agreement 
or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity or by statute or otherwise.  No single or partial exercise 
by any party of any right, power or remedy under  this Agreement shall preclude any other or  further 
exercise thereof. 

23.  Severability.  

If any provision of this Agreement is or becomes illegal, invalid or unenforceable in any respect 
under  the  law  of  any  jurisdiction,  neither  the  legality,  validity  or  enforceability  of  the  remaining 
provisions of this Agreement nor the legality, validity or enforceability of such provision under the law of 
any  other  jurisdiction  shall  in  any  way  be  affected  or  impaired  thereby.    If  any  provision  of  this 
Agreement may be construed in two or more ways, one of which would render the provision invalid or 
otherwise  voidable  or  unenforceable  and  another  of  which  would  render  the  provision  valid  and 
enforceable, such provision shall have the meaning which renders it valid and enforceable. 
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24.  Counterparts.  

This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed 
an original but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument. Emailed or facsimile 
signatures shall be valid as originals for all purposes. 

25.  Termination.  

This  Escrow  Agreement  shall  terminate  and  the  Escrow  Agent  shall  be  discharged  of  all 
responsibility hereunder at such time as the Escrow Agent shall have performed its duties in accordance 
with Paragraph 2 of this Agreement.  

26.  Jurisdiction  and  Venue.    The  parties  acknowledge  that  a  substantial  portion  of  the 
negotiations  and  anticipated  performance  of  this  Agreement  occurred  or  shall  occur  in  Palm  Beach 
County, Florida.  Any civil action or legal proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement shall be 
brought in the courts of record of the State of Florida in Palm Beach County or the United States District 
Court, Southern District of Florida.   Each party consents to the  jurisdiction of such Florida court  in any 
such civil action or  legal proceeding and waives any objection  to  the  laying of venue of any such civil 
action or  legal proceeding  in such Florida court.   Service of any court paper may be effected on such 
party  by mail,  as  provided  in  this  Agreement,  or  in  such  other manner  as may  be  provided  under 
applicable laws, rules of procedure or local rules.  

27.  Waiver of Jury Trial.   
 
IN ANY CIVIL ACTION, COUNTERCLAIM, OR PROCEEDING, WHETHER AT LAW OR  IN EQUITY, 

WHICH ARISES OUT OF, CONCERNS, OR RELATES TO THIS AGREEMENT, ANY AND ALL TRANSACTIONS 
CONTEMPLATED  HEREUNDER,  THE  PERFORMANCE  OF  THIS  AGREEMENT,  OR  THE  RELATIONSHIP 
CREATED  HEREBY,  WHETHER  SOUNDING  IN  CONTRACT,  TORT,  STRICT  LIABILITY,  OR  OTHERWISE, 
TRIAL  SHALL  BE  TO  A  COURT  OF  COMPETENT  JURISDICTION  AND  NOT  TO  A  JURY.    EACH  PARTY 
HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ANY RIGHT IT MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY.   ANY PARTY MAY FILE 
AN  ORIGINAL  COUNTERPART  OR  A  COPY  OF  THIS  AGREEMENT  WITH  ANY  COURT,  AS  WRITTEN 
EVIDENCE OF THE CONSENT OF THE PARTIES HERETO OF THE WAIVER OF THEIR RIGHT TO TRIAL BY 
JURY.   NEITHER  PARTY HAS MADE OR RELIED UPON ANY ORAL REPRESENTATIONS  TO OR BY ANY 
OTHER PARTY REGARDING THE ENFORCEABILITY OF THIS PROVISION.   EACH PARTY HAS READ AND 
UNDERSTANDS THE EFFECT OF THIS JURY WAIVER PROVISION.  EACH PARTY ACKNOWLEDGES THAT IT 
HAS BEEN ADVISED BY ITS OWN COUNSEL WITH RESPECT TO THE TRANSACTION GOVERNED BY THIS 
AGREEMENT,  AND  SPECIFICALLY WITH  RESPECT  TO  THE  TERMS  OF  THIS  PARAGRAPH  27, WHICH 
CONCERNS THE WAIVER OF EACH PARTY'S RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY. 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF,  the parties hereto have executed  this Agreement as of  the date  first 
above written.  

               
              Coral Reef Retail LLC 
 
 

            By:             
  Its: __________________________ 

 
 
 
 
              Coral Reef Resi PH I LLC 
 
 

            By:             
  Its: __________________________ 

 
 
               
 

United States Fish and Wildlife Service  
 
               

By:             
    Its:           

 
 
 
 
              GUNSTER, YOAKLEY & STEWART, P.A. 
 
 
              By:             

    Its:           
 
 

   



 

10 
 

Exhibit A 
 

Wire Transfer Instructions 
 

[Add GYS Escrow Instructions] 
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Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. 
U. S. TRADE SERVICES – Standby Letters of Credit 

 MAC D4004-017 
401 Linden Street, 1st Floor 
Winston-Salem, NC  27101 

Phone: 1(800) 776-3862 Option 2 
E-Mail: trade.ccustandbys@wachovia.com     

 
 

IRREVOCABLE STANDBY LETTER OF CREDIT 
NUMBER _______________ 
Issue Date:______________ 

 
 

BENEFICIARY:         APPLICANT: 
Beneficiary Name         Applicant Name  
Address           Address 
City, State Zip          City, State Zip 
Attention: ________________________ 
 
LETTER OF CREDIT ISSUE AMOUNT _______________________   EXPIRY DATE: _________________ 
 
Ladies and Gentlemen: 
 
At the request and for the account of the above referenced applicant, we hereby issue our Irrevocable Standby Letter of 
Credit (the "Wells Credit") in your favor in the amount of [Insert Amount in Words] [US$ Insert Amount in Numbers] 
available with us at our above office by payment against presentation of the following documents:  
 
1. A draft drawn on us at sight marked “Drawn under Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. Standby Letter of Credit No. _____________.” 
 
2. The original of this Standby Letter of Credit and any amendments thereto. 
 
3. Beneficiary's signed and dated statement worded as follows (with the instructions in brackets therein complied with): 
 
“The undersigned, an authorized representative of the beneficiary of Wells Fargo Bank Letter of Credit No. 
_________, hereby certifies that the amount of the draft accompanying this statement represents the amount due 
to beneficiary pursuant to, and in connection with, [Insert wording that must be in the drawing statement.” 
 
In the event of partial drawings where multiple drawings are not prohibited, Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. shall endorse the original 
of this Letter of Credit and return it to the beneficiary. 
 
If any instructions accompanying a drawing under this Letter of Credit request that payment is to be made by transfer to an 
account with us or at another bank, we and/or such other bank may rely on an account number specified in such instructions 
as that of the beneficiary’s without any further validation. 
 
We hereby engage with you that each draft drawn under and in compliance with the terms and conditions of this Letter of 
Credit will be duly honored if presented together with the documents specified in this Letter of Credit at our office located at 
401 Linden Street, 1st Floor MAC D4004-017, Winston-Salem, NC  27101, Attention: U.S. Trade Services, Standby Letters of 
Credit on or before the above stated expiry date, or any extended expiry date if applicable. 
 
This Irrevocable Standby Letter of Credit sets forth in full the terms of our undertaking.  This undertaking is independent of 
and shall not in any way be modified, amended, amplified or incorporated by reference to any document, contract or 
agreement referenced herein other than the stipulated ICC rules and governing laws. 
 
Except as otherwise expressly stated herein, this Standby Letter of Credit is subject to  (select one and delete other) **The 
International Standby Practice 1998, International Chamber of Commerce Publication No. 590.  or **The Uniform Customs 
and Practice For Documentary Credits, (2007 Revision) The International Chamber of Commerce Publication No. 600. 
 
 
 
Very truly yours 
WELLS FARGO BANK, N.A. 
        
 



 

 

 
BY:        _____________________________  
              (AUTHORIZED SIGNATURE) 
The original of this Letter of Credit contains an embossed seal over the Authorized Signature. 
 
Please direct any written correspondence or inquires regarding this Letter of Credit, always quoting our reference number to 
Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., Attn:  U.S. Trade Services, Standby Letters of Credit, 401 Linden Street, MAC D4004-017, Winston-
Salem, NC  27101 (Hours of operation:  8:00am EST to 5:30pm EST) 
 
All phone inquiries regarding this credit should be directed to our Standby Customer Connection Professionals at 
1-800-776-3862, Option 2.   
 
 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Fiscal years ended MAY 31, 2015 and 2014 

(With Independent Auditor’s Report Thereon) 



 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 
 
 
To the Board of Trustees 
University of Miami 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the University of Miami (the University) which comprise 
the statements of financial position as of May 31, 2015 and 2014, and the related statements of activities and cash 
flows for the years then ended and the related notes to the financial statements. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation, 
and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our 
audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are 
free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, 
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. 
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion. 
 
Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 
of the University of Miami as of May 31, 2015 and 2014, and the changes in its net assets and its cash flows for the 
years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
 

 
 
Fort Lauderdale, Florida 
August 26, 2015 



May   May
Assets 2015 2014

Cash and cash equivalents 130.3$                             85.5$                              

Accounts and loans receivable, net 410.7                               372.0                              

Contributions receivable, net 158.3                               102.1                              

Other assets 74.9                                 83.7                                

Investments 1,133.9                            1,153.2                           

Property and equipment, net 1,664.1                            1,591.9                           

Trusts held by others 49.1                                 48.5                                

         Total Assets 3,621.3$                          3,436.9$                         

Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 227.5$                             174.5$                            

Deferred revenues and other deposits 107.1                               80.0                                

Accrued pension and postretirement benefit costs 217.6                               244.9                              

Other liabilities 178.2                               170.4                              

Actuarial liability of annuities payable 8.8                                   9.9                                  

Liability for medical self-insurance 97.2                                 97.0                                

Government advances for student loans 23.2                                 22.5                                

Bonds and notes payable 950.9                               904.1                              

         Total Liabilities 1,810.5                            1,703.3                           

Net Assets

Unrestricted 857.4                               874.1                              

Temporarily restricted 474.9                               416.2                              

Permanently restricted 478.5                               443.3                              

         Total Net Assets 1,810.8                            1,733.6                           

         Total Liabilities and Net Assets 3,621.3$                          3,436.9$                         
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UNIVERSITY OF MIAMI

( in millions )

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

As of May 31, 2015 and 2014

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION



UNIVERSITY OF MIAMI
STATEMENTS OF ACTIVITIES

May May
2015 2014

Changes in unrestricted net assets 

Operating activities

Operating revenues

Tuition and fees, net   503.6$          487.1$           
Grants and contracts, net 475.8            487.8             
Net patient revenue - medical professional practice 386.1            394.4             
Net patient revenue - hospitals and clinics 1,054.7         934.5             
Gifts and trusts 69.6              67.5               
Net assets released from restrictions 22.3              25.0               
Endowment spending distribution 34.9              32.1               
Investment return 4.8                6.4                 
Auxiliary enterprises, net 117.3            111.4             
Other sources 37.4              29.1               
  Total operating revenues 2,706.5         2,575.3          

Operating expenses

Compensation and benefits 1,599.7         1,480.5          
Supplies and services 632.2            620.8             
Depreciation and amortization 131.4            125.1             
Utilities and maintenance 75.6              75.0               
Interest 37.3              39.5               
Other 207.9            203.3             
  Total operating expenses 2,684.1         2,544.2          

       Change in unrestricted net assets from operating activities 22.4              31.1               
Non-Operating activities

Endowment, annuity and other investment return, net of distributions (.2) 30.0               
Gifts and trusts 6.4 .7
Net gain (loss) on sale and/or disposal of other assets and property and equipment 7.4                (1.5)                
Net assets released from restrictions 1.2                12.3               
Transfer to permanently restricted net assets (.5) (.7)

      Change in unrestricted net assets from non-operating activities 14.3              40.8               
Postretirement benefits related changes other than net periodic benefit cost (53.4)             32.8

          (Decrease) increase in unrestricted net assets (16.7)             104.7             

Changes in temporarily restricted net assets

Endowment, annuity and other investment return, net of distributions (7.9)               47.5               
Gifts and trusts 86.7              36.9               
Changes in value of annuities payable and trusts held by others .8 (1.1)                
Net assets released from restrictions (23.5)             (37.3)              
Endowment spending distribution 2.6                2.6                 

          Increase in temporarily restricted net assets 58.7              48.6               

Changes in permanently restricted net assets

Endowment, annuity and other investment return .5 2.2                 
Gifts and trusts 34.2              24.3               
Transfer from unrestricted and temporarily restricted net assets .5 .7
          Increase in permanently restricted net assets 35.2              27.2               

         Increase in total net assets 77.2              180.5             
Net Assets

Beginning of year 1,733.6         1,553.1          

End of year     1,810.8$       1,733.6$        
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For the years ended May 31, 2015 and 2014

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

( in millions )



UNIVERSITY OF MIAMI

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the years ended May 31, 2015 and 2014

 ( in millions )

May May
2015 2014

Cash flows from operating activities

Increase in total net assets  77.2$            180.5$           
Adjustments to reconcile increase in total net assets
  to net cash provided by operating activities

Net realized and unrealized gains on investments and other assets (25.3)            (109.1)
Gifts and trusts (110.3)          (46.3)
Depreciation and amortization 131.4           125.1
Provision for doubtful accounts 109.3           91.0
Net gain on sale and/or disposal of other assets and property and equipment 18.3             1.5
Present value adjustment on annuities payable and trusts held by others (.1) (.2)
Amortization of debt premiums and discounts (2.2)              (2.1)

Change in operating assets and liabilities
   Decrease (increase) in

Accounts and loans receivable, net (151.9)          (112.8)
Contributions receivable, net 20.9             24.6
Other assets (8.3)              6.1

   Increase (decrease) in
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 53.0             (9.5)
Deferred revenues, annuities payable and other liabilities 33.6             (12.2)
Accrued pension and postretirement benefit costs (27.3)            (56.2)              
Medical self-insurance .2 4.6
Government advances for student loans .7 (.1)

   Net cash provided by operating activities 119.2 84.9

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchases of investments (498.3)          (791.9)
Proceeds from the sales and maturities of investments and sales of property and equipment 559.3           844.2
Capital expenditures for property and equipment (205.3)          (194.2)
Student and shared appreciation mortgage loans:
   New loans made (4.4) (4.2)
   Principal collected 8.3 11.6

  Net cash used in investing activities (140.4) (134.5)

Cash flows from financing activities

Gifts for plant expansion and endowment 17.0 13.1
Proceeds from the issuance of debt 127.2 16.1               
Payments to retire bonds and notes payable (78.2) (33.7)

   Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 66.0 (4.5)

Cash and cash equivalents

Net increase (decrease) 44.8 (54.1)

Beginning of year 85.5 139.6

End of year  130.3$          85.5$             

4

See accompanying notes to financial statements.



UNIVERSITY OF MIAMI 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

May 31, 2015 and 2014 
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1. ORGANIZATION 

 

The University of Miami (the University) is a private not-for-profit institution located in South Florida.  Founded in 
1925, the University owns and operates educational and research facilities as well as a health care system.  Its 
mission is to educate and nurture students, to create knowledge through innovative research programs, to 
provide service to our community and beyond, and to pursue excellence in health care.   
 
These financial statements include the accounts of the University’s departments and facilities, including its 
hospitals and clinics.  All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in the 
preparation of these statements. 
 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND REPORTING PRACTICES  

 
Basis of Presentation 
 
The financial statements of the University have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting and in 
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (U.S. GAAP) for not-
for-profit organizations. 
 
The three net asset categories as reflected in the accompanying financial statements are as follows: 
 

 Unrestricted - Net assets which are free of donor-imposed restrictions.  It includes the University’s 
investment in property and equipment and amounts designated by management for support of operations, 
programs, and facilities expansion.  The University has determined that any donor-imposed restrictions for 
current or developing programs and activities are generally met within the operating cycle of the University 
and, therefore, the University’s policy is to record these net assets as unrestricted.  This category includes 
all revenues, expenses, gains and losses that are not changes in permanently or temporarily restricted net 
assets.    

 
Unrestricted non-operating activities reflect transactions of a long-term investment or capital nature, 
including net investment return and activities related to quasi endowment funds, not used to support current 
operations as well as contributions to be used for facilities and equipment. 

 

 Temporarily Restricted - Net assets whose use by the University is limited by donor-imposed stipulations 
that either expire with the passage of time or that can be fulfilled or removed by actions of the University 
pursuant to those stipulations.  These net assets are available for program purposes, i.e., education, 
research, public service, and scholarships, as well as for buildings and equipment. 

  

 Permanently Restricted - Net assets whose use by the University is limited by donor-imposed stipulations 
that neither expire with the passage of time nor can be fulfilled or otherwise removed by actions of the 
University.  These net assets are invested in perpetuity, the income from which is expended for program 
purposes, i.e., education, research, public service, and scholarships. 

 
Use of Estimates 
 
The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America (U.S. GAAP) requires that management make estimates and assumptions that affect 
the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses during the reporting period as well as the 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities.  Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 

Income Taxes 
 
The University is exempt from federal income taxes under Section 501(c) (3) of the Internal Revenue Code, 
except for unrelated business income tax which is insignificant.  Accordingly, no provision for income taxes is 
made in the financial statements. At May 31, 2015, there were no uncertain tax positions.  The University files 
tax returns with U.S. federal and other tax authorities for which the statute of limitations may go back to the year 
ended May 31, 2012. 
 

Cash Equivalents 
 

All highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less when purchased are considered to be cash 
equivalents. 
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May 31, 2015 and 2014 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND REPORTING PRACTICES 

(Continued) 
 

Investments 
 
Investments are reported at fair value.  Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to 
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  See note 5 
for fair value measurements.  Realized gains and losses are recognized at date of disposition based on the 
difference between the net proceeds received and the purchased value of the investment sold, using the 
specific identification method.  Unrealized gains and losses are recognized for the change in fair value between 
reporting periods.  Interest and dividend income is recognized when earned. 

 
The University’s investments include various types of investment securities which are exposed to various risks 
such as interest rate, market, and credit risk.  Due to the level of risk associated with certain investment 
securities and the level of uncertainty related to changes in the value of investment securities, it is possible that 
changes in risks in the near term could materially affect the amounts reported in the financial statements. 

 
Revenue Recognition 

 
Tuition and fees revenue is reported in the fiscal year in which educational programs are primarily conducted.  
Auxiliary revenue charges are directly related to the costs of the services provided.  Revenue received before it 
is earned is deferred.  Scholarships and fellowships awarded to students for tuition, fees, and room and board 
are based upon need and merit, and are netted against tuition and fees, and auxiliary enterprises revenue in the 
statements of activities as follows (in millions):     

2015 2014
Scholarships and fellowships:
   Institutionally funded 186.7$         181.3$         
   Externally funded - gifts and grants 11.5             9.2               

Total amount netted against tuition and fees revenue 198.2$         190.5$         

Amount netted against auxiliary enterprises revenue 15.0$           13.8$           

 
Gifts of cash, property and marketable securities are recorded as revenue at fair value when received.  
Unconditional pledges (note 4) are recognized as revenue based on the estimated present value of the future 
cash flows, net of allowances, when the commitment is received.  Pledges made and collected in the same 
reporting period are recorded when received in the appropriate net asset category.  Conditional pledges are 
recorded as revenue only when donor stipulations are substantially met. 
 
Grants and contracts revenue from sponsored grants and contracts, including facilities and administrative costs 
recovery, are recognized when allowable expenses are incurred under such agreements.   
 
Medical professional practice, and hospitals and clinics revenue (net patient care revenue) are recorded based 
upon established billing rates less allowances for contractual adjustments, discounts, and allowances for 
doubtful accounts (bad debts).  Revenues are recorded in the period the services are provided based upon the 
estimated amounts due from the patients and third-party payors, including federal and state agencies (under the 
Medicare and Medicaid programs), managed care health plans, commercial insurance companies, and 
employers.  Estimates of contractual allowances represent the difference between established rates for services 
and amounts reimbursed by third-party payors based upon the payment terms specified in the related 
contractual agreements.  Third-party payors’ contractual payment terms are generally based upon 
predetermined rates per diagnosis, per diem rates or discounted fee-for-service rates. 
 
Laws and regulations governing the Medicare and Medicaid programs are complex and subject to 
interpretation.  As a result, there is at least a reasonable possibility that recorded estimates will change by a 
material amount.  The estimated reimbursement amounts are adjusted in subsequent periods as cost reports 
are prepared and filed and as final settlements are determined.  In the opinion of management, adequate 
provisions for adjustments that may result from such reviews and audits have been made through May 31, 
2015, in the accompanying financial statements.  The impact of such adjustments to operating revenues for the 
years ended May 31, 2015 and 2014 was a decrease of $.5 and $1.1 million, respectively. 
 
 
 



UNIVERSITY OF MIAMI 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

May 31, 2015 and 2014 

7 

 
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND REPORTING PRACTICES 

(Continued) 
 

Auxiliary Enterprises 
 
Auxiliary enterprises, including residence halls, food services, retail stores, and telecommunications, furnish 
services to students, faculty, and staff. Fee charges are directly related to the costs of services rendered and 
are recognized as revenue when the services or goods are delivered. 

 
Annuities Payable and Trusts Held by Others 
 
Certain gift annuities, charitable lead and remainder annuity trust agreements have been entered into with 
donors.  Assets held under these agreements are valued at fair value based on either the present value of 
expected cash flows or the value of the University’s share of the underlying assets.  These assets are included 
in trusts held by others on the statements of financial position, except for gift annuities which are included in 
cash and cash equivalents and investments.  Gift annuities included in cash and cash equivalents, and 
investments totaled $20.7 and $21.5 million at May 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.  Generally, revenue from 
gift annuities and trusts is recognized at the date the agreements are established net of liabilities for the present 
value of the estimated future payments to donors and/or other beneficiaries. 
 
The liabilities are adjusted during the term of the trusts for changes in the value of the assets, accretion of the 
discount, and other changes in the estimates of future benefits. 
 
The University is also the beneficiary of certain perpetual trusts which are also included in trusts held by others 
on the statements of financial position.  The fair value of the trusts, which are based on either the present value 
of the estimated future cash receipts or the fair value of the assets held in the trust, are recognized as assets 
and gift and trust revenue as of the date the University is notified of the establishment of the trust.  The carrying 
value of the assets is adjusted for changes in fair value. 
 
 
Medical School 
 
Faculty physicians, in addition to teaching and conducting research, engage in the practice of medicine, which 
generates patient care revenue.  Revenues and expenses, including compensation and administrative 
operations from the practice of medicine, are reflected as University revenues and expenses.  The net assets of 
patient care activities are designated for medical school programs. 
 
The University and the Public Health Trust of Miami-Dade County, Florida (PHT), owner and operator of 
Jackson Memorial Hospital (JMH), have entered into an affiliation agreement related to their independent 
missions within the designated land and facilities that comprise the Jackson Memorial Medical Center.  
Pursuant to that agreement, the PHT provides clinical facilities for the teaching of the University’s medical 
students.  Medical education of its students is the sole responsibility of the University.  In addition, the University 
has agreed to permit its faculty to apply for privileges at JMH to train and supervise JMH house staff (interns, 
residents, and fellows) and to treat hospital patients in their capacity as members of JMH’s attending medical 
staff.  All such treatment and training is the sole responsibility of the PHT in its capacity as the legal owner and 
operator of the Jackson Health System’s public hospitals and clinics and its statutory teaching hospital (JMH).  
The affiliation agreement provides the terms for the mutual reimbursement of services provided. 

 
Insurance 
 
The University manages property and liability risks through a combination of commercial insurance policies and 
self-insurance. 
 
The University is self-insured for medical professional liability and maintains commercial excess loss coverage 
within specified limits.  Provisions for medical professional liability claims and related costs are based on 
several factors, including an annual actuarial study using a discount rate of 3.0% at May 31, 2015 and 2014. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND REPORTING PRACTICES 

(Continued) 
 

Property and Equipment 
 
Property and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization.  Depreciation is 
computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the related assets.  Depreciation is not 
recorded on land, art objects and construction in progress.  Leasehold improvements are amortized over the 
lesser of the lease term or the useful life. 
 
Cost associated with the development and installation of internal-use software are accounted for in accordance 
with the Intangibles – Goodwill and Other, Internal Use Software subtopic of the FASB ASC.  Accordingly, 
internal-use software costs are expensed or capitalized according to the provisions of the accounting standard.  
Capitalized software costs are included in construction in progress and equipment.   
 
Facilities and Administrative Cost Recovery 
 
 

The Federal government reimburses the University for facilities and administrative costs incurred in connection 
with research grants and contracts based on approved rates through 2015.  Facilities and administrative cost 
recovery from government and private sources included in grants and contracts revenues totaled $64.0 and 
$65.7 million during the years ended May 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. 

 

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets 

 
U.S. GAAP requires that long-lived assets held by an entity, including intangible assets, be reviewed for 
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset group 
may not be recoverable.  No asset impairments were recorded by the University in fiscal years 2015 and 2014.  
 
Subsequent events   
 
The University evaluated events and transactions occurring subsequent to May 31, 2015, through August 26, 
2015, the date of issuance of the financial statements. During this period, there were no subsequent events 
requiring recognition in the financial statements except as disclosed in note 10. 
 
Reclassifications 

 
Certain amounts in the prior year’s financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s 
presentation. 

 
3.  ACCOUNTS AND LOANS RECEIVABLE 
 
  At May 31, accounts and loans receivable consist of the following (in millions): 
 

2015 2014

Patient care 247.9$         214.5$         
Grants, contracts and other 86.9             79.1             
Shared appreciation mortgages 32.4             35.7             
Student 14.9             13.8             

Student loans, net 28.6             28.9             

Total 410.7$         372.0$         

Accounts and loans receivable, net:
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3.  ACCOUNTS AND LOANS RECEIVABLE (Continued) 
 

Accounts and loans receivable, and student loans receivable are net of allowances for doubtful accounts of 
$127.2 and $.6 million, respectively, for 2015 and $120.8 and $.9 million, respectively, for 2014. 
 
Shared appreciation mortgages were provided as part of a program to attract and retain excellent faculty and 
senior administrators through home mortgage financing assistance.  Shared appreciation notes amounting to 
$34.9 and $38.2 million (gross of $2.5 million allowance for doubtful accounts) at May 31, 2015 and 2014, 
respectively, from University faculty and senior administrators are collateralized by second mortgages on 
residential properties.  The program was suspended effective December 31, 2008 with limited exceptions. 
 
Student loans are made primarily pursuant to federal programs and availability of funding.  The related 
receivables have significant government restrictions as to marketability, interest rates, and repayment terms.  
Their fair value is not readily determinable. 

 
4. CONTRIBUTIONS RECEIVABLE (PLEDGES) 
 

Unconditional pledges are recorded at the present value of their future cash flows using a discount rate 
commensurate with the risk involved at the time the pledge is recorded.  They are expected to be realized in the 
following periods at May 31, (in millions): 
 

 

2015 2014
In one year or less 44.8$          29.7$          
Between one year and five years                                                                                     99.8             56.0            
More than five years                                                                                                           56.1             41.9            

200.7          127.6          
Discount of $20.6 and allowance of doubtful pledges
    $21.8 for 2015 and $15.7 and $9.8 for 2014, respectively                                                                                                (42.4)           (25.5)           

Total 158.3$        102.1$        
 

 

The methodology for calculating the allowance is based on the administration’s review of individually significant 
outstanding pledges, analysis of the aging of payment schedules for all outstanding pledges, as well as other 
factors including current economic conditions. 

5. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 

The valuation methodologies used for other investment instruments measured at fair value consisted of: 

Variable Rate Swap Agreement 

The University entered into an interest rate swap agreement on October 25, 2004 to manage the market risk 
associated with outstanding variable-rate debt.  The swap agreement provides that the University receive a 
variable rate based on 3-month LIBOR and pay a fixed rate of 4.2% and matures on April 3, 2034.  Parties to 
the interest rate swap agreement are subject to market risk for changes in interest rates as well as risk of credit 
loss in the event of nonperformance by the counterparty.  The University deals only with high quality 
counterparties that meet rating criteria for financial stability and creditworthiness.  The estimated cumulative fair 
value loss of the swap agreement was $4.4 and $4.1 million for the years ended May 31, 2015 and 2014, 
respectively, and is included in other investments, net in the tables that follow.  Changes in the fair value, which 
for fiscal year 2015 and 2014 amounted to an unrealized gain (loss) of $(.3) and $.5 million, respectively, are 
recorded as non-operating activities in the statements of activities. The notional amount was $17.3 and $17.8 
million for fiscal year 2015 and 2014, respectively. 
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5. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 

 

Fair Value Measurements 
 
Investments 

The fair market value of investments at May 31, 2015 and 2014 amounted to $1,133.9 and $1,153.2 million, 
with a cost basis of $996.0 and $955.8 million, respectively.  Short term investments consist primarily of 
commercial paper and U.S. Treasury securities with original maturities when purchased in excess of three 
months.  Categories included in limited partnerships and limited liability companies and other investments, 
represent alternative investments which are valued at the net asset value of the entities as determined by the 
fund managers, which are generally categorized as level 2 and 3 within the fair value hierarchy, depending on 
valuation inputs.  The majority of investments are combined in investment pools with each individual account 
subscribing to or disposing of shares on the basis of the fair value per share.  At May 31, 2015 and 2014, the 
fair value of the University’s primary investment pool (the Growth Pool) amounted to $1,003.7 and $980.0 
million, with a cost basis of $871.8 and $787.8 million, respectively.  The Growth Pool is managed by multiple 
investment managers with asset allocation per the University’s investment policy.  The total net unrealized gain 
(loss) on investments for the years ended May 31, 2015 and 2014 was $(59.5) and $68.6 million, respectively.   
 
FASB ASC 820 provides the framework for measuring fair value. That framework provides a fair value hierarchy 
that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The hierarchy gives the highest 
priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 measurements) 
and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurements).  The following describes the hierarchy 
of inputs used to measure fair value and the primary valuation methodologies used by the University for 
investments measured at fair value: 

 

Level 1 — Valuations for assets and liabilities traded in active exchange markets, such as the New York 
Stock Exchange.  Level 1 also includes U.S. Treasury and federal agency securities and federal agency 
mortgage-backed securities, which are traded by dealers or brokers in active markets.  Inputs to the 
valuation methodologies include unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
that are accessible at the measurement date.     
 

Level 2 — Valuations for assets traded in less active dealer or broker markets.  Inputs to the valuation 
methodologies include quoted prices from third party pricing services for identical or similar assets in active 
and/or inactive markets; inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability; or 
inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data by correlation or other 
means. 

 

Level 3 — Valuations for assets that are derived from other valuation methodologies, including option 
pricing models, discounted cash flow models and similar techniques, and are not based on market 
exchange, dealer, or broker traded transactions.  Inputs to the valuation methodologies incorporate certain 
assumptions and projections in determining the fair value assigned to such assets. 

   
The level in the fair value hierarchy within which a fair value measurement in its entirety falls is based on the 
lowest level of any input that is significant to the fair value measurement.  The University utilizes valuation 
techniques that maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs.  There 
have been no changes in the methodologies used at May 31, 2015.   
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5. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 

 
Fair Value Measurements (continued) 
 
Investments 

The following tables set forth by level, within the fair value hierarchy, the University’s assets at fair value (in 
millions):  
 

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Assets:

Short term investments $ 33.4          $ 14.0        $ 19.4         $ -           

Corporate bonds      73.7 -                73.7 -           

Debt securities:
U.S. treasury & other government agencies 16.8         16.8       -          -           
Issued by foreign government      .1 -                .1 -           

Publicly traded stocks:
Large-mid cap 77.9         77.9       -            -           
Small cap 29.3         29.3       -            -           

Mutual funds:
Equities:

Emerging markets 24.5         -           24.5        -           
International 80.5         -           80.5        -           
Large-mid cap 72.3         -           72.3        -           
Small cap 33.9         -           33.9        -           

Fixed income 63.2         -           63.2        -           
Balanced 10.3         -                .9 9.4         

Limited partnerships and limited liability  companies:
Equities:

Emerging markets 51.5         -           51.5        -           
International 136.7       -           136.7      -           
Large-mid cap 103.6       -           103.6      -           

Fixed income 79.7         -           43.6        36.1       
Private equity 31.5         -           -            31.5       
Other:

Event arbitrage 66.3         -           -            66.3       
Long-short composite 84.9         -           84.7             .2
Real assets related securities 46.2         -           45.5             .7
Real estate 20.0         -           -            20.0       

Other investments (2.4)          -           (2.4)         -           
Total investments 1,133.9    138.0     831.7      164.2     

Trusts held by others 49.1         -           -            49.1       

Total assets  $ 1,183.0     $ 138.0      $ 831.7       $ 213.3     

At May 31, 2015
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5. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 

 
Fair Value Measurements (continued) 
 

Investments 

 

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Assets:

Short term investments $ 25.5          $ -            $ 25.5         $ -           

Corporate bonds      88.0 -                88.0 -           

Debt securities:
U.S. treasury & other government agencies 34.0         33.4            .6 -           

Publicly traded stocks:
Large-mid cap 112.8       112.8     -            -           
Small cap 23.5         23.5       -            -           

Mutual funds:
Equities:

Emerging markets 31.7         -           31.7        -           
International 3.6           -           3.6          -           
Large-mid cap 13.3         -           13.3        -           
Small cap 32.0         -           32.0        -           

Fixed income 55.8         -           55.8        -           
Balanced 10.3         -                .8 9.5         

Limited partnerships and limited liability  companies:
Equities:

Emerging markets 37.3         -           37.3        -           
International 181.8       -           181.8      -           
Large-mid cap 88.3         -           88.3        -           

Fixed income 97.0         -           46.9        50.1       
Private equity 31.5         -           -            31.5       
Other:

Event arbitrage 81.4         -           -            81.4       
Long-short composite 134.6       -           106.0      28.6       
Real assets related securities 46.7         -           46.5             .2
Real estate 26.1         -           -            26.1       

Other investments (2.0)          -           (2.0)         -           
Total investments 1,153.2    169.7     756.1      227.4     

Trusts held by others 48.5         -           -            48.5       

Total assets $ 1,201.7    $ 169.7     $ 756.1      $ 275.9     

At May 31, 2014
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5. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 
 

Fair Value Measurements (continued) 
 

Investments 

The following tables set forth a summary of changes in the fair value of the University’s level 3 assets which are 
valued at net asset value:  
 
For the year ended May 31, 2015 (in millions):

Realized Unrealized

Mutual funds - balanced 9.5$         -                     (.3)      .2      .4 (.4) -              9.4$         
Limited partnerships and 
  limited liability companies:

Fixed income      50.1 -                     (10.0)                  1.6              (1.3)              (4.3) -                     36.1
Private equity      31.5 3.8                   (8.0)                         .2 5.0               (1.0) -                     31.5
Other:  

Event arbitrage      81.4 -                     (15.7)                       1.8      3.2 (4.4) -                     66.3
Long-short composite      28.6 -                     (29.6)                  (.9) 6.9               (4.8) -                     .2
Real assets related              
      securities      .2      .6 -                     (.1) (.1)      .1 -                     .7
Real estate      26.1      .4 (12.0)                       .3      2.1      3.1 -                     20.0

Total investments 227.4       4.8                   (75.6)                  3.1                   16.2 (11.7)          -                164.2       

Trusts held by others      48.5 -                     -                       -               -                      .6 -                49.1         

Total assets 275.9$     4.8$                 (75.6)$                3.1$            $         16.2 (11.1)$        -$              213.3$     

May 31, 
2014

Total net gains (losses) 
included in changes in net 

assets
Purchases

Net Income 
Reinvested

Transfers in 
and/or out of 

level 3
May 31, 

2015Sales

 
For the year ended May 31, 2014 (in millions):

Realized Unrealized

Mutual funds - balanced 8.8$         -                     (.3)      .3      .7 -              9.5$         
Limited partnerships and 
  limited liability companies:

Fixed income      47.0 -                     -                       1.6              -                      1.5 -                     50.1
Private equity      38.4 3.5                   (12.4)                       .2 (4.2)              6.0             -                     31.5
Other:  

Event arbitrage      81.2 -                     (5.0)                         1.9      2.2      1.1 -                     81.4
Long-short composite      25.6 -                     -                       (1.1) 3.0                    1.1 -                     28.6
Real assets related              
      securities      .5 -                     (.3) -               (.5)      .5 -                     .2
Real estate      25.9      .7 (3.8)                    (.1)      1.0      2.4 -                     26.1

Total investments 227.4       4.2                   (21.8)                  2.8                   2.2 12.6           -                227.4       

Trusts held by others      46.1 -                     -                       -               -                 2.4             -                48.5         

Total assets 273.5$     4.2$                 (21.8)$                2.8$            $         2.2 15.0$         -$              275.9$     

May 31, 
2013

Total net gains (losses) 
included in changes in net 

assets
Purchases

Net Income 
Reinvested

Transfers in 
and/or out of 

level 3
May 31, 

2014Sales

 
There were no other issuances and settlements for the years ended May 31, 2015 and 2014. 
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5. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 
 

Fair Value Measurements (continued) 
 

Investments 

The total level 3 change in net unrealized gains (losses) for the years relating to those investments still held at 
May 31, 2015 and 2014 total $(11.7) and $12.6 million, respectively, and are reflected as part of investment 
return in the statements of activities.  The total level 3 change in value related to trusts held by others at May 
31, 2015 and 2014 total $.6 and $2.4 million, respectively, and are reflected as part of investment return and 
changes in value of annuities payable and trusts held by others in the statements of activities. 
 

The following tables summarize the University’s assets whose fair value is reported using net asset value per 
share (in millions):  

Assets: Fair Value Redemption 
Frequency Days Notice

Limited partnerships and limited 
liability  companies:

Equities:
Emerging markets 51.5$       -$                (M)  10-30 days 
International 136.7       -                  (M)  5-6 days 
Large-mid cap 103.6       -                 (Q)  60 days 

Fixed income 79.7         -                  (M), (A)  10-90 days 
Private equity 31.5         13.3              *  N/A 
Other:

Event arbitrage 66.3         -                 (Q)  65-90 days 
Long-short composite 84.9         -                  (Q), (A)  45-60 days 
Real assets related

securities
Real estate 20.0         4.1                *  N/A 

Other investments (2.4)          -                  N/A  N/A 
Total investments 618.0       26.8             

Trusts held by others 49.1         -                  N/A  N/A 

Total assets 667.1$     26.8$           

At May 31, 2015

Future 
Commitments

46.2         9.4                (M), (Q) *  10-60 days 

 

Assets: Fair Value Redemption 
Frequency Days Notice

Limited partnerships and limited 
liability  companies:

Equities:
Emerging markets 37.3$       -$                (M)  30 days 
International 181.8       -                  (M)  5-6 days 
Large-mid cap 88.3         -                 (Q)  60 days 

Fixed income 97.0         -                  (M), (A)  10-90 days 
Private equity 31.5         16.9              *  N/A 
Other:

Event arbitrage 81.4         -                 (Q)  65-90 days 
Long-short composite 134.6       -                  (M), (Q), (A)  45-90 days 
Real assets related

securities
Real estate 26.1         4.3                *  N/A 

Other investments (2.0)          -                  N/A  N/A 
Total investments 722.7       31.2             

Trusts held by others 48.5         -                  N/A  N/A 

Total assets 771.2$     31.2$           

At May 31, 2014

Future 
Commitments

46.7         10.0              (M), (Q) *  10-60 days 

 
Redemption Frequency:  (A) Annually, (Q) Quarterly, (M) Monthly.   

(*) The expected liquidation date for these assets range from 2015 to 2028 and are based on a combination of the inception date of the 
fund and the expected life of the fund as outlined in the partnership agreement inclusive of the manager's ability to extend the fund's life.  
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5. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 
 

Fair Value Measurements (continued) 
 
The University’s investment policy and strategy for its investments, as established by the Investment Committee 
(the Committee) of the Board and ratified by the Executive Committee of the Board, is to provide for growth of 
capital with a moderate level of volatility by investing assets based on its target allocations.  The weighted 
average target allocations for University assets is 55.0% equity securities, 10.0% fixed income, and 35.0% other 
investments.  Equity securities include investments in large-mid cap and small cap companies primarily located 
in the United States, as well as international companies similar to the S&P 500, Russell 2000 and MSCI 
Indexes.  Fixed income securities include corporate bonds of companies from diversified industries, mortgage-
backed securities, and U.S. treasuries similar to the Barclays Capital Aggregate and Citigroup World Gov’t 
Bond Indexes.  Other investments include private equity funds, real estate funds, and hedge funds similar to 
those of the HFRI Fund of Funds, S&P 500, DJ/UBS Commodity, and NCREIF Property Indexes.  Investments 
periodically are rebalanced to meet established target allocations.  In addition, the Committee reviews its 
investment policy and target allocations periodically and effects changes when required, to ensure that strategic 
objectives are achieved.   
 
Investment Return  

 
The University’s endowment spending distribution policy is to distribute five percent of the three-year moving 
average fair market value of the endowment investment pool.  This policy is designed to protect the purchasing 
power of the endowment and to minimize the effect of capital market fluctuations on operating budgets. 

 
The components of total investment return as reflected in the statements of activities are as follows (in millions): 
 

2015 2014
Operating:

Endowment spending distribution $ 34.9               $ 32.1               
Investment return 4.8                 6.4                 

Total operating investment return 39.7               38.5               
Non-Operating:

Unrestricted:
Endowment interest and dividend income, realized and unrealized

 gains (losses), net of endowment spending distribution (2.9)                15.6               
Other net realized and unrealized gains 2.7                 14.4               

Total unrestricted non-operating investment return (.2) 30.0               
Temporarily restricted:

Investment return, net of endowment spending distribution (7.9)                47.5               
Endowment distributions reinvested 2.6                 2.6                 

Permanently restricted investment return .5 2.2                 
Total non-operating investment return (5.0)                82.3               

Total investment return $ 34.7               $ 120.8             

 

6. FAIR VALUE OF OTHER FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  
 
The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, patient, student and other receivables, accounts payable 
and accrued expenses approximate fair value due to the short maturity of these financial instruments.  The 
carrying amounts of notes payable with variable interest rates approximate their fair value since the variable 
rates reflect current market rates for notes with similar maturities and credit quality.  The fair value of bonds 
payable with fixed interest rates, which is classified as level 2 within the fair value hierarchy, is based on rates 
assumed to be currently available for bond issues with similar terms and average maturities.  The estimated fair 
value of these bonds payable at May 31, 2015 and 2014 approximated $851.5 and $897.6 million, respectively.  
The carrying amounts of these bonds payable at May 31, 2015 and 2014 approximated $819.3 and $845.7 
million, respectively.   
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7. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 
 

Property and equipment and related accumulated depreciation and amortization at May 31 consist of the 
following (in millions): 
 

Useful Lives 2015 2014
Land - $ 87.4           $ 86.6          
Land improvements 20 years 111.0         109.7        
Buildings and building improvements 8 to 50 years 1,800.2      1,743.5     
Leasehold improvements 1 to 50 years 49.8           48.9          
Construction in progress - 136.9         76.8          
Moveable equipment 3 to 20 years 714.9         654.7        
Library materials 12 years 116.5         117.0        
Art objects - 55.7           55.0          

3,072.4      2,892.2     
Accumulated depreciation and amortization      (1,408.3)     (1,300.3)
Total $       1,664.1 $       1,591.9 

 

 

Interest on borrowings is capitalized during construction, net of any project specific borrowings’ investment 
income earned through the temporary investment of project borrowings.  Net interest expense of $4.2 and $2.9 
million was capitalized for the years ended May 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.  

 
8. ENDOWMENT  

  

As required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, net assets associated 
with endowment funds, including funds designated by the Board to function as endowments, are classified and 
reported based on the existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions. 
 
Quasi endowment funds are resources segregated for long-term investment and include investment return on 
unrestricted investments, and other resources designated by the Board for future programs and operations. 
 
Spending Policy 

The University’s endowment spending distribution policy in support of its programs is to distribute five percent of 
the three-year moving average fair market value of the endowment investment pool.  New endowments must be 
received prior to December 31 in order to activate the spending distribution for the next fiscal year.  In addition, 
no distribution is made from an endowment until its funding reaches, by December 31, the level stipulated by 
policy. Further, endowments to establish Chairs and Professorships have an additional delay of one year before 
distributions are made.        
 
Return Objectives and Risk Parameters 

The University has adopted investment and spending policies to protect the purchasing power of the 
endowment and to minimize the effect of capital market fluctuations on operating budgets.   

 
The intent of the University’s policy for its primary investment pool (the Growth Pool), as approved by the Board, 
is to achieve a rate of return equal to or greater than the respective benchmark, while assuming a moderate 
level of risk.  To satisfy its long-term rate-of-return objectives, the University relies on a total return strategy in 
which investment returns are achieved through both capital appreciation (realized and unrealized) and current 
yield (interest and dividends).  The University targets a diversified asset allocation that places a greater 
emphasis on equity based investments to achieve its long-term return objectives within prudent risk constraints.  
The current long-term return objective is to earn a return of at least the Consumer Price Index plus 5%, net of 
fees.  Actual returns in any given year may vary from this amount. 
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8. ENDOWMENT (Continued) 

 
Application of Relevant Law 
 
On June 17, 2011, the State of Florida passed a version of the Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional 
Funds Act (UPMIFA).  The effective date of the enacted version of UPMIFA in Florida (FL UPMIFA) was July 1, 
2012.  Accordingly the University was required to adopt the provisions of Financial Accounting Standards Board 
(FASB) Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 958-205-50 (Endowments of Not-for-Profit Organizations: Net 
Asset Classification of Funds Subject to an Enacted Version of the Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional 
Funds Act, and Enhanced Disclosures for All Endowment Funds)  on July 1, 2012.  This standard provides 
guidance on the net asset classification of donor-restricted endowment funds for a nonprofit organization that is 
subject to an enacted version of the UPMIFA. 
 
The Board’s interpretation of its fiduciary responsibilities for donor-restricted endowments under FL UPMIFA is 
that it is required to use reasonable care and caution as would be exercised by a prudent investor, in 
considering the investment management and expenditures of endowment funds.  In accordance with FL 
UPMIFA, the Board may expend so much of an endowment fund as the Board determines to be prudent for the 
uses and purposes for which the endowment fund is established, consistent with the goal of conserving the 
long-term purchasing power of the endowment fund.    
 
FL UPMIFA specifies that unless stated otherwise in the gift instrument, donor-restricted assets in an 
endowment fund are restricted assets until appropriated for expenditure.  Barring the existence of specific 
instructions in gift agreements for donor-restricted endowments, the University’s policy is to report (a) the 
historical value for such endowments as permanently restricted net assets and (b) the net accumulated 
appreciation as temporarily restricted net assets.  The amounts appropriated for expenditure are based on the 
endowment spending rate per unit and the number of units for each fund.   
 
The unspent market appreciation of donor-restricted endowment funds is presented as temporarily restricted 
net assets until appropriated for expenditure by the University. When losses on the investments of a donor-
restricted endowment fund exceed the net appreciation classified in temporarily restricted net assets, the 
excess loss reduces unrestricted net assets. Gains that restore the fair value of the assets of the endowment 
fund to the fund's required level (historic dollar value) are classified as an increase to the same class of net 
assets that was previously reduced for the excess loss - unrestricted net assets. After the fair value of the 
assets of the endowment fund equals the required level, gains are again available for expenditure, and those 
gains that are restricted by the donor are classified as increases in temporarily restricted net assets. 
 
At May 31, 2015 and 2014, the net deficiency in the market value of certain endowment related assets which 
fell below the donor required level amounted to $.8 and $.5 million, respectively, and resulted from unfavorable 
market fluctuations that occurred shortly after the investment of new permanently restricted contributions, as 
well as continued appropriations for certain programs deemed prudent by the University. 
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8. ENDOWMENT (Continued) 
 

Endowment net assets consist of the following (in millions): 
 

Unrestricted
Temporarily 
Restricted

Permanently 
Restricted Total

At May 31, 2014:

Donor-restricted endowment funds:

At historical value $ -               $    28.7 $    386.7 $    415.4

Accumulated net (depreciation) appreciation (.5)    263.8 -                  263.3

Quasi endowment funds    186.7 -              -                  186.7

Total $    186.2 $    292.5 $    386.7 $    865.4

At May 31, 2015:

Donor-restricted endowment funds:

At historical value $ -               $    30.3 $    416.1 $    446.4

Accumulated net (depreciation) appreciation (.8)    258.1 -                  257.3

Quasi endowment funds    183.6 -              -                  183.6
Total $    182.8 $    288.4 $    416.1 $    887.3

 
 
Changes in endowment net assets for the fiscal years ended May 31, 2015 and 2014 consist of (in millions):  
        
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
  

Unrestricted
Temporarily 
Restricted

Permanently 
Restricted Total

Balance,  May 31, 2013 $    171.6 $    243.9 $    362.4 $    777.9
Endowment investment return:

 Investment income    1.3    4.7 -                     6.0
 Net appreciation (realized and unrealized)    21.9    68.5 -                     90.4

Total investment return    23.2    73.2 -                     96.4
Gifts and Trusts -                     .4    23.6    24.0
Endowment spending distribution for programs (7.7) (27.1) -                  (34.8)
Endowment distributions reinvested    .1    2.6 -                     2.7
Net transfers to quasi endowment funds (1.0) -                  -                  (1.0)
Other -                  (.5)    .7    .2

Balance, May 31, 2014 $    186.2 $    292.5 $    386.7 $    865.4
Endowment investment return:

 Investment income    1.1    4.5 -                     5.6
 Net appreciation (realized and unrealized)    4.0    17.2 -                     21.2

Total investment return    5.1    21.7 -                     26.8
Gifts and Trusts -                     1.8    28.9    30.7
Endowment spending distribution for programs (8.1) (29.5) -                  (37.6)
Endowment distributions reinvested    .1    2.6 -                     2.7
Net transfers to quasi endowment funds (.5) -                  -                  (.5)
Other -                  (.7)    .5 (.2)

Balance, May 31, 2015 $    182.8 $    288.4 $    416.1 $    887.3
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9.       PENSION AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS 
 

The University has two non-contributory retirement plans, the Faculty Retirement Plan and the Employee 
Retirement Plan.  These two plans were closed to employees hired after May 31, 2007.  Effective June 1, 2007 
a new retirement plan was established, the Retirement Savings Plan. 
 
The University also sponsors an unfunded, defined benefit postretirement health plan that covers all full-time 
and part-time regular employees who elect coverage and satisfy the plan’s eligibility requirements when they 
retire.  The plan is contributory with retiree contributions established as a percentage of the total cost for retiree 
health care and for the health care of their dependents.  The University pays all benefits on a current basis.  
  
The Retirement Savings Plan (Savings Plan) is a defined contribution plan in which the University makes an 
automatic core contribution of 5% of pay with a dollar-for-dollar match on voluntary contributions up to an 
additional 5% of pay once the employee meets certain eligibility requirements.  Eligible employees can begin 
making voluntary contributions to the Savings Plan at any time.  Participation is limited to faculty and staff hired 
on or after June 1, 2007 or who elected, prior to June 1, 2007, to transfer to this plan from the Faculty 
Retirement Plan or from the Employee Retirement Plan. Core and matching contributions to the Savings Plan 
for 2015 and 2014 were $43.5 and $40.1 million, respectively. 
 

The Retirement Savings Plan II (Savings Plan II) is a defined contribution plan the University established, 
effective January 1, 2008, that covers substantially all employees of the University of Miami Hospital 
(UMH).  The plan is available to employees who meet certain eligibility requirements and requires that UMH 
match certain percentages of participants’ contributions up to certain maximum levels.  Eligible employees can 
begin making voluntary contributions to the Savings Plan II at any time.  Core and matching contributions to the 
Savings Plan II were $6.5 and $6.6 million for the years ended May 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.   
 
Faculty Retirement Plan (Faculty Plan) is a defined contribution plan for eligible faculty hired between 
September 30, 1977 and May 31, 2007, and certain faculty hired on or before September 30, 1977, who ceased 
participation in the Employee Retirement Plan.  Under the terms of the Faculty Plan, the University makes 
contributions to individual retirement accounts for each eligible faculty member.  Payment from the retirement 
account commences when the faculty member has separated from service and elects to begin distributions in 
accordance with plan provisions.   
 
Contributions to the Faculty Plan are based upon a combination of compensation, tenure status, length of 
service, and other factors and are funded as accrued.  These contributions were $24.6 and $23.4 million for the 
years ended May 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.  In addition to the above noted plans, there are deferred 
compensation arrangements for certain employees, principally clinical faculty, the liability for which is included 
in other liabilities.   
 
The Employee Retirement Plan (Employee Plan) is a defined benefit plan primarily for full-time non-faculty 
employees hired before June 1, 2007.  Employee Plan assets are held by a Trustee.  The benefit is based on 
the higher of two formulas:  a formula based on years of service and the employee's compensation for the 
consecutive five year period of employment that produces the highest average; and a cash balance benefit 
formula determined each year based on compensation and investment earnings.   
 

On March 22, 2013, the Employee Plan was amended to allow terminated vested employees with a cash 
balance or present value benefit under $30,000 a one-time opportunity, during a 60-day window from April 1, 
2014 to May 31, 2014, to cash out their benefit without having to reach the normal retirement date.  In addition, 
any participant with a cash balance under $5,000 who did not elect to participate in the window was 
automatically cashed out, and their benefits were rolled over to an IRA administered by a third party vendor.  
The amounts settled approximated $25.0 million, which was less than the sum of the service cost and the 
interest cost.  Therefore, settlement accounting was not required. 
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9.  PENSION AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS (Continued) 

 
 
On April 18, 2013, the Employee Plan was amended to allow a 100% lump sum distribution option to 
participants with a termination date on or after May 1, 2013.  In addition, on April 29, 2014, the Employee Plan 
was amended to allow a 100% lump sum distribution option effective June 1, 2015, to vested employees who 
terminated on or before May 31, 2013.  
 
On April 29, 2014, the Employee Plan was also amended to allow all terminated vested employees a one-time 
opportunity, during a 60-day window ending May 31, 2015, to cash out their benefit without having to reach the 
normal retirement date.  The Employee Plan was amended on April 29, 2014 to transfer employees from the 
Employee Plan to the Savings Plan at time of long term disability approval effective June 1, 2014. The amounts 
settled approximated $43.5 million, which was less than the sum of the service cost and the interest cost.  
Therefore, settlement accounting was not required. 
 
On June 2, 2014, the Employee Plan was amended to eliminate benefit accruals for participants who become 
eligible for disability benefits under the University’s Long-Term Disability Plan on or after June 1, 2014.  This 
amendment also extended the meaning of “spouse” to include a person of the same-sex or gender. 
 
On April 30, 2015, the Employee Plan was amended to allow full lump sum payments for participants’ whose 
pension starting date occurs on or after June 1, 2015. In addition, participants who had previously taken partial 
or hardship lump sum payments may elect to take any residual benefit as a lump sum.  
 
The measurement date for the Employee Plan and postretirement health plan is May 31 for fiscal years 2015 
and 2014. 
 
The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, are expected to be paid, for the fiscal 
years ending May 31 (in millions): 
 

Pension 
Benefits

Postretirement 
Benefits

2016 $    52.9 $    .3
2017 53.5                   .3
2018        55.4                   .3
2019 57.4                   .4
2020 58.1                   .4

2021-2025 304.6              2.6                     
 

The University expects to contribute $49.5 million to the Employee Plan and $.3 million to its postretirement 
health plan during the fiscal year ending May 31, 2016. 
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9.  PENSION AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS (Continued) 

 
The tables that follow provide a reconciliation of the changes in the plans’ projected benefit obligations, fair 
value of assets and funded status (in millions): 
 

Postretirement
Pension Benefits Benefits

2015 2014 2015 2014
Change in Benefit Obligation

Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 909.6 $ 918.6 $ 6.2 $ 6.9
Service cost – benefits attributed to employee service during period                                                                                         
'   and administrative expenses 18.9 18.9 .5 .5
Interest costs accrued to measure benefit obligation at present value 38.4 41.6 .3 .3
Plan participant contributions -            -            .7 .6
Actuarial loss (gain)  61.3 11.0 .3 (1.5)
Benefits paid and administrative expenses (73.8) (69.5) (.7) (.6)
Plan amendments (26.1) (11.0) -            -                
Benefit obligation at end of year 928.3 909.6 7.3 6.2

Change in Plan Assets

Employee Plan assets at fair value at beginning of year 670.9 624.4 -            -                
Investment return on Employee Plan assets 21.4 66.0 -            -                
Benefits paid and Employee Plan expenses (73.8) (69.5) (.7) (.6)
Employer contributions 99.5 50.0 -            -                
Plan participant contributions -            -            .7 .6
Employee Plan assets at fair value at end of year 718.0 670.9 -            -                

Funded status

Accrued pension and postretirement benefit costs recognized  
on the statements of financial position $ (210.3) $ (238.7) $ (7.3) $ (6.2)

Amounts recognized in unrestricted net assets consist of:

   Net actuarial loss $ 351.8 $ 277.2 $ .3 $ -                
   Prior service credit (41.8) (20.1) (.5) (.6)

$ 310.0 $ 257.1 $ (.2) $ (.6)
 

At May 31, 2015 and 2014, the accumulated benefit obligation of the Employee Plan was $884.9 and $868.0 
million, respectively, $166.9 and $197.1 million, respectively, in excess of Employee Plan assets.    
 
The following table provides the components of net periodic pension cost for the plans (in millions): 
 

Postretirement
Pension Benefits Benefits

2015 2014 2015 2014
Service cost:
Benefits attributed to employee service during periods and                                      
'  administrative expenses $ 18.9 $ 18.9 $ .6 $ .5
Interest costs accrued to measure benefit obligation at present value 38.4 41.6 .3 .3
Expected return on Employee Plan assets (51.5) (50.1) -           -            
Amortization of prior service cost/(credit) - includes changes in pension 
formula and cost of Employee Plan amendments (4.5) (1.7) (.1) (.1)
Recognized net actuarial loss 16.8 17.3 -           -            

Net periodic benefit cost $ 18.1 $ 26.0 $ .8 $ .7
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9.  PENSION AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS (Continued) 
 
The net actuarial loss and prior service credit expected to be recognized in net periodic benefit cost over the 
next fiscal year are as follows (in millions): 
 

Pension Postretirement
Benefits Benefits

Net actuarial loss 23.9$                -$               
Prior service credit (4.5) (.1)

 
      
An 8.25% annual rate of increase in the per capita cost of covered health care benefits was assumed for 2015.  
The rate is assumed to decrease each year until reaching the ultimate of 5.1% in 2092.  Assumed health care 
cost trend rates have an effect on the amounts reported for the health care plan.  A load factor was applied to 
the trend rates to reflect the impact of excise tax in 2017 and beyond.  A 1% change in assumed health care 
cost trend rates would have the following effect (in millions): 
 

 

1% Increase  1% Decrease

Effect on total of service and interest cost components  
  of net periodic postretirement health care benefit cost $            .1 $           (.1)

Effect on the health care component of the accumulated
  postretirement benefit obligation

       
1.0 (.8)

 
 
 
The following weighted-average assumptions were used for the above calculations: 
 

Postretirement
Pension Benefits Benefits

2015 2014 2015 2014
Discount rate for benefit obligation 4.25% 4.55% 4.20% 4.40%
Discount rate for net periodic benefit cost 4.55% 4.80% 4.40% 4.70%
Expected return on Employee Plan assets 7.80% 8.13% N/A N/A
Rate of compensation increase 3.70%/4.20% 3.70%/4.20% N/A N/A

 
 
The rate of compensation increase assumption related to the net periodic benefit cost is 3.70% for fiscal year 
2015 to 2016, and 4.20% thereafter.  To develop the expected long-term rate of return for the Employee Plan 
assets, the University considered the historical returns of the major market indicators relating to the target asset 
allocation, as well as the current economic and financial market conditions. 
 
The University has elected to adopt mortality tables issued in October 2014 by the Society of Actuaries. The 
mortality assumptions selected are the non-collar adjusted RP-2014 sex distinct pre- and post-annuitant 
mortality tables. These rates have been projected to 2014 using one-dimensional Scale BB. These tables 
represent recent mortality experience for a large US population dataset that is reasonably representative of the 
population covered under the Plan. Mortality improvement is also assumed beyond the valuation date because 
recent experience evidenced by Social Security beneficiaries indicates that longevity has continued to improve. 
For years after 2014, generational improvement is projected using scale MP-2014, modified to converge to a 
.75% long term rate of mortality improvement in 2022 for ages 65-84, lesser improvement rates are used at 
older ages. The impact of the change in mortality assumption is a liability increase of $35.8 million at May 31, 
2015. 
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9.  PENSION AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS (Continued) 

 
Employee Plan Assets 
 
The investment policy and strategy, as established by the University, is to provide for growth of capital with a 
moderate level of volatility by investing in various asset classes. The University has adopted a dynamic glide 
path asset allocation.  Each asset class is tied to a dynamic asset allocation using suitable market indices to 
represent each class.   
 
The current glide path asset allocation of Employee Plan assets for a funded ratio of at least but no more than 
85% is as follows:  25% Fixed income; 50.5% Total Equities; and 24.5% other investments.  Equity securities 
include registered mutual funds, unregistered limited partnerships, and 103-12 investment entities which invest 
in large-mid cap, small cap and emerging companies primarily located in the United States, as well as 
international and emerging markets companies whose benchmarks are tied to the S&P 500, Russell 2000 and 
MSCI Indexes.  Fixed income securities include collective investment funds which invest in corporate bonds of 
companies from diversified industries, mortgage-backed securities, and U.S. treasuries whose benchmarks are 
tied to Barclay’s Capital U.S. Credit Index, Barclay’s Capital U.S. Long Gov’t Credit Index, and Barclay’s Capital 
Strips 15+ Yr Index.   Other Investments include investments in hedge funds, private equity funds, long-short 
composites, real estate, event arbitrage and common collective trusts investing in real assets related securities 
similar to those of the HFRI Fund of Funds, S&P 500, Bloomberg Commodity Index, and NCREIF Property 
Index.  The University rebalances its investments periodically to meet the glide path allocations.  The University 
also reviews its investment policy periodically to determine if the policy or allocations require change.   See note 
5 for fair value measurement narrative disclosures. 
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9.  PENSION AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS (Continued) 

 
Employee Plan Assets (continued) 

 
The Employee Plan’s investments, by level, within the fair value hierarchy are as follows (in millions): 
 

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Large-mid cap 44.5$          44.5$         -$             -$              
Small cap 21.1            21.1           -               -                

Registered mutual funds:
Equities:
   Emerging markets 16.4            -               16.4           -                
   International 43.5            -               43.5           -                
   Large-mid cap 43.2            -               43.2           -                

Unregistered limited partnerships and limited 
liability companies:

Equities:
   Emerging markets 23.2            -               23.2           -                

Large-mid cap 65.4            -               65.4           -                
Private equity 12.1            -               -               12.1            

Other: 
Event arbitrage 36.1            -               -               36.1            
Long-short composite 34.8            -               34.8           -                
Real estate 12.0            -               -               12.0            
Real assets related securities 8.9              -               8.9             -                

Money market accounts 18.1            18.1           -               -                
Common collective trusts:

Fixed income entities 187.1          -               187.1         -                
Real assets related securities 17.2            -               17.2           -                

103-12 Investment entities:
Equities:

International 81.4            -               81.4           -                
Small cap 31.6            -               31.6           -                

Fixed income 6.9              -               -               6.9              
Other investments:

Private equity 4.2              -               -               4.2              
Long-short composite               .1 -               -                             .1
Fixed income 10.2            -               -               10.2            
Real assets related securities      .1 -               -                    .1

Total 718.1$        83.7$         552.7$       81.7$          

Common stocks:

At May 31, 2015
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9.  PENSION AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS (Continued) 

 
Employee Plan Assets (continued) 
 

 

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Large-mid cap 72.8$          72.8$         -$             -$              
Small cap 17.7            17.7           -               -                

Registered mutual funds:
Equities - emerging markets 15.7            -               15.7           -                
Fixed Income 62.3            -               62.3           -                

Unregistered limited partnerships and limited 
liability companies:

Equities:
   Emerging markets 12.5            -               12.5           -                

Large-mid cap 55.8            -               55.8           -                
Private equity 12.7            -               -               12.7            

Other: 
Event arbitrage 43.2            -               -               43.2            
Long-short composite 60.5            -               36.7           23.8            
Real estate 15.9            -               -               15.9            
Real assets related securities 11.0            -               11.0           -                

Money market accounts 4.7              4.7             -               -                
Common collective trusts:

Real assets related securities 20.6            -               20.6           -                
103-12 Investment entities:

Equities:
International 100.1          -               100.1         -                
Small cap 29.3            -               29.3           -                

Fixed income 103.2          -               93.5           9.7              
Other investments:

Private equity 2.7              -               -               2.7              
Long-short composite 15.7            -               15.6                         .1
Fixed income 11.9            -               -               11.9            
Real assets related securities      .1 -               -                    .1

Total 668.4$        95.2$         453.1$       120.1$        

Common stocks:

At May 31, 2014
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9.  PENSION AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS (Continued) 

 
Employee Plan Assets (continued) 
 
 

The following tables set forth a summary of changes in the fair value of the Employee Plan’s Level 3 
investments which are valued at net asset value. 
 
 

Realized Unrealized

Unregistered limited partnerships 
  and limited liability companies:

Private equity 12.7$           .6 (3.2)                      1.3                     .7 -                  12.1$         
Other:

Event arbitrage 43.2             1.5 (7.3)                           .8 (2.1) -                       36.1
Long-short composite 23.8        (.7) (24.7)                         4.1 (2.5) -                  -               

Real estate 15.9             .5 (7.2)      .4      2.4 -                       12.0
103-12 Investment entities:

Fixed income      9.7      .8 (3.0)                      (.4) (.2) -                       6.9
Other investments:

Private equity      2.7      1.2 (.1) (.1)      .5 -                       4.2
Long-short composite      .1 -                         -                         -                  -                    -                       .1
Fixed income 11.9        -                         -                         -                  (1.7) -                       10.2
Real assets related securities      .1 -                         -                         (.1)      .1 -                       .1

Total 120.1$    3.9$                     (45.5)$                  6.0$              (2.8)$               -$                81.7$         

Total net gains (losses) included 
in changes in net assets

Transfers in 
and/or out of 

level 3
May 31, 

2015Purchases
May 31, 

2014

For the year ended May 31, 2015 (in millions)

Sales

 

Realized Unrealized

Unregistered limited partnerships 
  and limited liability companies:

Private equity 15.8$      1.1                       (3.8)                      (2.4)                    2.0 -                  12.7$         
Other:

Event arbitrage      34.7      6.7 -                              .6      1.2 -                       43.2
Long-short composite      11.9      9.3      2.0      .6 -                       23.8
Real estate      15.2      .6 (2.2)      .5      1.8 -                       15.9

103-12 Investment entities:
Fixed income      9.0      .7 -                         -                  -                    -                       9.7

Other investments:
Private equity      3.0      .9 (1.5)      .6 (.3) -                       2.7
Long-short composite      .1 -                         -                         -                  -                    -                       .1
Fixed income      11.2 -                         -                         -                       .7 -                       11.9
Real assets related securities      .3 -                         (.2) (.3)      .3 -                       .1

Total 101.2$    19.3$                   (7.7)$                    1.0$              6.3$                -$                120.1$       

Total net gains (losses) included 
in changes in net assets

Transfers in 
and/or out of 

level 3
May 31, 

2014Purchases
May 31, 

2013

For the year ended May 31, 2014 (in millions)

Sales

 
 
There were no issuances or settlements for the years ended May 31, 2015 and 2014. 
 
The total level 3 change in net unrealized gains (losses) for the years relating to those investments still held at 
May 31, 2015 and 2014 total ($2.8) and $6.3 million, respectively, and are included in net appreciation 
(depreciation) in fair value of investments in the Employee Plan’s statements of changes in net assets available 
for benefits.  
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10.  BONDS AND NOTES PAYABLE 
 
 Bonds and notes payable at May 31 consist of the following (in millions): 

Final 2015
 Series Maturity Interest Rate 2015 2014

Miami-Dade County, Florida 2007A to
Educational Facilities Authority 2012B  2016 to 2042 1.29% to 6.1% $ 788.9        $ 812.4        

Notes payable to banks and others - 2016 to 2030 2.0% to 2.38% 27.8          37.2          
Notes payable to banks and others - 2016 to 2020 Variable 109.5        27.6          

Par amount of bonds and notes payable 926.2        877.2        
Net unamortized premium 24.7          26.9          

Total $ 950.9        $ 904.1        
 

The annual maturities for bonds and notes payable at May 31, 2015 are as follows (in millions): 

2016 107.7$      
2017 37.4          
2018 36.0          
2019 35.5          

2020 47.9          

Thereafter 661.7        
Total 926.2$      

 

In December 2013, the University borrowed $10.0 million from a bank to fund the Employees’ Retirement Plan.  
The loan has a fixed interest rate of 2.15% per annum, and has a maturity date of December 31, 2017.  The 
outstanding balance at May 31, 2015 was $6.9 million.  This loan was paid off in August 2015. 

Effective June 30, 2012, the University renewed its revolving credit facility.  This line of credit has a variable 
interest equal to the LIBOR rate for dollar deposits with a one-month maturity plus 0.65% per annum through 
June 29, 2014.  Effective June 30, 2014, this line of credit was renewed with a maximum credit capacity of 
$100.0 million and a variable interest equal to the LIBOR rate for dollar deposits with a one-month maturity plus 
0.65% per annum. The outstanding balance under this line at May 31, 2015 and May 31, 2014 was $93.0 and 
$0 million, respectively.  The agreement terminates on December 31, 2015.  This loan was paid off in August 
2015. 

Effective December 31, 2014, the University renewed its line of credit arrangement which carries a maximum 
possible balance of $150.0 million.  This line of credit has a variable interest rate equal to the LIBOR Daily 
Floating Rate plus 0.65% per annum, and has a maturity date of December 31, 2015.  The outstanding balance 
under this line of credit at May 31, 2015 and 2014 was $0.0 and $10.4 million, respectively.   This loan was paid 
off in August 2015. 

In December 2014, the University borrowed $16.8 million from a bank to refinance an existing note.  The loan 
has a variable interest rate equal to LIBOR Floating Rate plus .80% per annum, and has a maturity date of 
December 16, 2019.  The outstanding balance at May 31, 2015 was $16.5 million. 
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10.  BONDS AND NOTES PAYABLE (Continued) 
 

Effective August 4, 2015, the University entered into a $600.0 million senior credit facility with a syndicate of 
lenders, including a new revolving credit facility of $500.0 million and a new Term Loan A of $100.0 million.  The 
$250.0 million Tranche A line of credit has a variable interest rate equal to the LIBOR Daily Floating Rate plus 
0.70% per annum, and has a maturity date of August 4, 2018.  The $250.0 million Tranche B line of credit has a 
variable interest rate equal to the LIBOR Daily Floating Rate plus 1.00% per annum, and has a maturity date of 
August 4, 2020.  The Term Loan A has a variable interest rate equal to LIBOR Daily Floating Rate plus 0.80% 
per annum, and has a maturity date of August 4, 2020.  The pricing for all three tranches are based on a pricing 
grid based on the University’s credit ratings. 

 Total interest paid on all bonds and notes was $43.8 and $44.0 million for the years ended May 31, 2015 and 
2014, respectively.  All of the bonds and notes payable listed in the table above are unsecured. 

 
 
11.    NET ASSETS 
        
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

  
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
12. GIFTS AND TRUSTS  
 

The University’s Advancement Office (Advancement) reports total gifts and trusts based on the Management 
Reporting Standards issued by the Council for Advancement and Support of Education (CASE).  Gifts, trusts, 
and pledges (gifts and trusts) reported for financial statement purposes are recorded on the accrual basis.  

 

  

Unrestricted net assets consist of the following at May 31 (in millions): 2015 2014

Designated for operations, programs, facilities expansion and student loans $ 130.5            $ 139.8            
Cumulative pension and postretirement benefits related changes other than                                                                                                 
'     net periodic benefit cost (309.9)           (256.5)           

Invested in plant facilities 854.0            804.6            

Endowment and similar funds 182.8            186.2            

Total unrestricted net assets $ 857.4            $ 874.1            

2015 2014

Gifts for programs and facilities expansion $ 29.6              $ 18.1              

Contributions (pledges) and trusts 145.0            94.0              

Life income and annuity funds 11.9              11.6              

Endowment and similar funds 288.4            292.5            

Total temporarily restricted net assets $ 474.9            $ 416.2            

Temporarily restricted net assets consist of the following at May 31 (in 
millions):

2015 2014

Contributions (pledges) and trusts $ 62.4              $ 56.6              

Endowment and similar funds 416.1            386.7            

    Total permanently restricted net assets $ 478.5            $ 443.3            

Permanently restricted net assets consist of the following at May 31 (in 
millions):
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12. GIFTS AND TRUSTS (Continued) 

 
The table below summarizes gifts and trusts received for the years ended May 31, 2015 and 2014, reported in 
the statements of activities as well as the CASE standards as reported by Advancement (in millions): 
 

2015 2014
Unrestricted gifts and trusts in support of programs $ 69.6             $ 67.5             
Unrestricted gifts and trusts for plant expansion 6.4               .7
Temporarily restricted gifts and trusts for programs and plant expansion 86.7             36.9             
Permanently restricted endowment gifts and trusts 34.2             24.3             

Total gifts and trusts, per statements of activities 196.9           129.4           

Increases (decreases) to reflect gifts and trusts per CASE standards (unaudited):
Pledges, net (56.2)            1.5               
Non-government grants, included in grants and contracts revenue 50.6             46.9             
Differences in valuation/recording:

Funds held in trust by others (4.2)              5.3               
Annuity .7 .3
Timing 4.0               (4.4)              

      Gift-in-kind recorded under CASE standards only 2.1               6.4               
      Donations to supporting organizations recorded under CASE standards only -               1.9               

Total gifts and trusts as reported by Advancement $ 193.9           $ 187.3           
 

 
 

 
13. FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES 
 

Operating expenses are reported in the statements of activities in natural categories.  Functional expenses for 
fiscal years 2015 and 2014 are shown below (in millions): 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Facilities related expenses have been allocated across applicable functional expense categories in the 
statements of activities based on space usage (in millions): 
 

2015 2014
Depreciation and amortization $ 131.4           $ 125.1           
Interest 37.3             39.5             
Operations and maintenance 132.1           123.6           
Total $ 300.8           $ 288.2           

 
  

2015 2014

Instruction $ 509.1          $ 479.6          

Research 208.8          211.2          

Public service 136.4          151.9          

Patient care 1,276.5       1,196.5       
Auxiliary enterprises 171.7          163.2          

Academic support 144.2          136.3          

Student services 45.7            43.0            

Institutional support 191.7          162.5          

Total $ 2,684.1       $ 2,544.2       
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14. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

 

The University had contractual obligations of approximately $119.6 million at May 31, 2015 for various 
construction projects and purchases of equipment.  The University has also entered into professional service 
agreements with Hospital Corporation of America, Inc. (HCA, Inc.) and various HCA, Inc. affiliates.  Future 
minimum commitments under these agreements range from $3.1 to $10.9 million per year over the next five 
years, totaling $25.8 million.   
 
The University, in its normal operations, is a defendant in various legal actions.  Additionally, amounts received 
and expended under various federal and state programs are subject to audit by governmental agencies. 
Management is of the opinion that the outcome of these matters would not have a material effect on the 
University's financial position or results of operations. 

 
The University leases certain real property.  These leases are classified as operating leases and have lease 
terms ranging up to sixty-eight years.  Total lease expense for the years ended May 31, 2015 and 2014 was 
$32.0 and $31.9 million, respectively.  Future minimum lease payments under noncancelable operating leases 
at May 31, 2015 are as follows (in millions): 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2016 13.6$      
2017 9.5           
2018 8.1           
2019 7.0           
2020 5.6           
Thereafter 157.3      
Total 201.1$    



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Fiscal years ended MAY 31, 2016 and 2015 

(With Independent Auditor’s Report Thereon) 





May May
Assets 2016 2015

Cash and cash equivalents 381.7$                             130.3$                            

Accounts and loans receivable, net 437.8                               410.7                              

Contributions receivable, net 146.9                               158.3                              

Other assets 77.3                                 67.5                                

Investments 994.4                               1,133.9                           

Property and equipment, net 1,721.8                            1,664.1                           

Trusts held by others 45.6                                 49.1                                

         Total Assets 3,805.5$                          3,613.9$                         

Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 221.9$                             227.5$                            

Deferred revenues and other deposits 101.5                               107.1                              

Accrued pension and postretirement benefit costs 259.9                               217.6                              

Other liabilities 189.9                               178.2                              

Actuarial liability of annuities payable 7.1                                   8.8                                  

Liability for medical self-insurance 109.5                               97.2                                

Government advances for student loans 22.7                                 23.2                                

Bonds and notes payable 1,151.7                            943.5                              

         Total Liabilities 2,064.2                            1,803.1                           

Net Assets

Unrestricted 779.3                               857.4                              

Temporarily restricted 462.1                               474.9                              

Permanently restricted 499.9                               478.5                              

         Total Net Assets 1,741.3                            1,810.8                           

         Total Liabilities and Net Assets 3,805.5$                          3,613.9$                         
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UNIVERSITY OF MIAMI
STATEMENTS OF ACTIVITIES

May May
2016 2015

Changes in unrestricted net assets 
Operating activities

Operating revenues
Tuition and fees, net   517.2$          504.8$           
Grants and contracts, net 507.7            476.6             
Net patient revenue - medical professional practice 407.3            385.3             
Net patient revenue - hospitals and clinics 1,137.9         1,054.7          
Gifts and trusts 64.5              69.6               
Net assets released from restrictions 27.3 22.3               
Endowment spending distribution 38.4              34.9               
Investment return .1 4.8                 
Auxiliary enterprises, net 118.5            117.3             
Other sources 37.6              38.4               
  Total operating revenues 2,856.5         2,708.7          

Operating expenses
Compensation and benefits 1,695.6         1,596.3          
Supplies and services 687.1            633.7             
Depreciation 136.5            130.9             
Utilities and maintenance 75.9              75.6               
Interest 39.7              37.7               
Other 198.6            212.1             
  Total operating expenses 2,833.4         2,686.3          

       Change in unrestricted net assets from operating activities 23.1              22.4               
Non-Operating activities

Endowment, annuity and other investment return, net of distributions (30.1) (.2)
Gifts and trusts 8.2 6.4
Net (loss) gain on long lived assets and business units (3.2)               7.4                 
Loss on early extinguishment of debt (16.8)             -                 
Net assets released from restrictions 7.3                1.2                 
Transfer to permanently restricted net assets (.8) (.5)

      Change in unrestricted net assets from non-operating activities (35.4)             14.3               
Postretirement benefits related changes other than net periodic benefit cost (65.8)             (53.4)              

          Decrease in unrestricted net assets (78.1)             (16.7)              

Changes in temporarily restricted net assets
Endowment, annuity and other investment return, net of distributions (58.3)             (7.9)                
Gifts and trusts for property and equipment 77.6              86.7               
Changes in value of annuities payable and trusts held by others (.1) .8
Net assets released from restrictions for property and equipment (34.8)             (23.5)              
Endowment spending distribution 2.8                2.6                 

          (Decrease) increase in temporarily restricted net assets (12.8)             58.7               

Changes in permanently restricted net assets
Endowment, annuity and other investment return (2.9)               .5
Gifts and trusts 23.3              34.2               
Net assets released from restrictions .2 -                 
Transfer from unrestricted net assets .8 .5
          Increase in permanently restricted net assets 21.4              35.2               

         (Decrease) increase in total net assets (69.5)             77.2               
Net Assets

Beginning of year 1,810.8         1,733.6          

End of year     1,741.3$       1,810.8$        
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UNIVERSITY OF MIAMI
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the years ended May 31, 2016 and 2015
 ( in millions )

May May
2016 2015

Cash flows from operating activities
(Decrease) increase in total net assets  (69.5)$            77.2$              

Adjustments to reconcile (decrease) increase in total net assets
  to net cash provided by operating activities

Net realized and unrealized (gains) losses on investments and other assets 67.5              (25.3)               
Gifts for plant expansion and endowment (87.1)             (110.3)             
Depreciation 136.5            130.9              
Provision for doubtful accounts 101.4            109.3              
Net loss (gain) on sale and/or disposal of other assets and property and equipment 2.3                (2.2)                 
Present value adjustment on annuities payable and trusts held by others .3 (.1)
Amortization of debt premiums, discounts and issue costs (2.6)               (1.8)                 
Loss on early extinguishment of debt 16.7              -                    

Change in operating assets and liabilities
   Decrease (increase) in

Accounts and loans receivable, net (131.9)           (151.9)             
Contributions receivable, net 24.2              20.9                
Other assets (10.7)             12.3                

   Increase (decrease) in
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (5.6)               53.0                
Deferred revenues, annuities payable and other liabilities 0.3                33.6                
Accrued pension and postretirement benefit costs 42.3              (27.3)               
Medical self-insurance 12.3              .2
Government advances for student loans (.5) .7

   Net cash provided by operating activities 95.9              119.2              

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of investments (198.2)           (498.3)             
Proceeds from the sales and maturities of investments and sales of property and equipment 279.3            559.3              
Capital expenditures for property and equipment (194.5)           (205.3)             
Student and shared appreciation mortgage loans:
   New loans made (5.5)               (4.4)                 
   Principal collected 8.9                8.3                  

  Net cash used in investing activities (110.0)           (140.4)             

Cash flows from financing activities
Gifts for plant expansion and endowment 67.7              17.0                
Proceeds from the issuance of debt 823.4            127.2              
Payments to retire bonds and notes payable (625.6)           (78.2)               

   Net cash provided by financing activities 265.5            66.0                

Cash and cash equivalents
Net increase 251.4            44.8                

Beginning of year 130.3            85.5                

End of year  381.7$           130.3$            
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1. ORGANIZATION 

 

The University of Miami (the University) is a private not-for-profit institution located in South Florida.  Founded in 
1925, the University owns and operates educational and research facilities as well as a health care system.  Its 
mission is to educate and nurture students, to create knowledge through innovative research programs, to provide 
service to our community and beyond, and to pursue excellence in health care.   
 
These financial statements include the accounts of the University’s departments and facilities, including its 
hospitals and clinics.  All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in the 
preparation of these statements. 
 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND REPORTING PRACTICES 

 
Basis of Presentation 
 
The financial statements of the University have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting and in 
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (U.S. GAAP) for not-for-
profit organizations. 
 
The three net asset categories as reflected in the accompanying financial statements are as follows: 
 

 Unrestricted - Net assets which are free of donor-imposed restrictions.  It includes the University’s 
investment in property and equipment and amounts designated by management for support of operations, 
programs, and facilities expansion.  The University has determined that any donor-imposed restrictions for 
current or developing programs and activities are generally met within the operating cycle of the University 
and, therefore, the University’s policy is to record these net assets as unrestricted.  This category includes 
all revenues, expenses, gains and losses that are not changes in permanently or temporarily restricted net 
assets.    

 
 Temporarily Restricted - Net assets whose use by the University is limited by donor-imposed stipulations 

that either expire with the passage of time or that can be fulfilled or removed by actions of the University 
pursuant to those stipulations.  These net assets are available for program purposes, i.e., education, 
research, public service, and scholarships, as well as for buildings and equipment. 

  

 Permanently Restricted - Net assets whose use by the University is limited by donor-imposed stipulations 
that neither expire with the passage of time nor can be fulfilled or otherwise removed by actions of the 
University.  These net assets are invested in perpetuity, the income from which is expended for program 
purposes, i.e., education, research, public service, and scholarships. 

 
Use of Estimates 
 
The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America (U.S. GAAP) requires that management make estimates and assumptions that affect 
the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses during the reporting period as well as the 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities.  Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 
Income Taxes 
 
The University is exempt from federal income taxes under Section 501(c) (3) of the Internal Revenue Code, 
except for unrelated business income tax which is insignificant.  Accordingly, no provision for income taxes is 
made in the financial statements. At May 31, 2016, there were no uncertain tax positions.  The University files tax 
returns with U.S. federal and other tax authorities for which generally the statute of limitations may go back to the 
year ended May 31, 2013. 
 
Cash Equivalents 
 
All highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less when purchased are considered to be cash 
equivalents. 
 
At May 31, 2016, cash equivalents include $132.2 of amounts held in escrow that are restricted by the 2015A and 
2015B bonds for certain project costs (see note 10). 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND REPORTING PRACTICES 

(Continued) 
 

Investments 
 
Investments are reported at fair value.  Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to 
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  See note 5 for 
fair value measurements.  Realized gains and losses are recognized at date of disposition based on the difference 
between the net proceeds received and the purchased value of the investment sold, using the specific 
identification method.  Unrealized gains and losses are recognized for the change in fair value between reporting 
periods.  Interest and dividend income is recognized when earned. 

 
The University’s investments include various types of investment securities which are exposed to various risks 
such as interest rate, market, and credit risk.  Due to the level of risk associated with certain investment securities 
and the level of uncertainty related to changes in the value of investment securities, it is possible that changes in 
risks in the near term could materially affect the amounts reported in the financial statements. 

     
Revenue Recognition 

 
Tuition and fees revenue is reported in the fiscal year in which educational programs are primarily conducted.  
Auxiliary revenue charges are directly related to the costs of the services provided.  Revenue received before it 
is earned is deferred.  Scholarships and fellowships awarded to students for tuition, fees, and room and board 
are based upon need and merit, and are netted against tuition and fees, and auxiliary enterprises revenue in the 
statements of activities as follows (in millions):     

2016 2015
Scholarships and fellowships:
   Institutionally funded 197.5$         186.7$         
   Externally funded - gifts and grants 10.4             11.5             

Total amount netted against tuition and fees revenue 207.9$         198.2$         

Amount netted against auxiliary enterprises revenue 14.3$           15.0$           

 
 
Grants and contracts revenue from sponsored grants and contracts, including facilities and administrative costs 
recovery, are recognized when allowable expenses are incurred under such agreements.   
 
Medical professional practice, and hospitals and clinics revenue (net patient revenue) are recorded based upon 
established billing rates less allowances for contractual adjustments, discounts, and allowances for doubtful 
accounts (bad debts).  Revenues are recorded in the period the services are provided based upon the estimated 
amounts due from the patients and third-party payors, including federal and state agencies (under the Medicare 
and Medicaid programs), managed care health plans, commercial insurance companies, and employers.  
Estimates of contractual allowances represent the difference between established rates for services and amounts 
reimbursed by third-party payors based upon the payment terms specified in the related contractual agreements.  
Third-party payors’ contractual payment terms are generally based upon predetermined rates per diagnosis, per 
diem rates or discounted fee-for-service rates. 
 
Laws and regulations governing the Medicare and Medicaid programs are complex and subject to interpretation.  
As a result, there is at least a reasonable possibility that recorded estimates will change by a material amount.  
The estimated reimbursement amounts are adjusted in subsequent periods as cost reports are prepared and filed 
and as final settlements are determined.  In the opinion of management, adequate provisions for adjustments that 
may result from such reviews and audits have been made through May 31, 2016, in the accompanying financial 
statements.  The impact of such adjustments to operating revenues for the years ended May 31, 2016 and 2015 
was an increase of $3.2 million and a decrease of $1.1 million, respectively.  Approximately 10.1% and 10.4% of 
total operating revenue was derived from services rendered under the Medicare program during the years ended 
May 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND REPORTING PRACTICES 

(Continued) 
 

Revenue Recognition (Continued) 
 

Gifts of cash, property and marketable securities are recorded as revenue at fair value when received.  
Unconditional pledges (note 4) are recognized as revenue based on the estimated present value of the future 
cash flows, net of allowances, when the commitment is received.  Pledges made and collected in the same 
reporting period are recorded when received in the appropriate net asset category.  Conditional pledges are 
recorded as revenue only when donor stipulations are substantially met. 

 
Auxiliary Enterprises 
 
Auxiliary enterprises include residence halls, food services, retail stores, and athletics. Fee charges are directly 
related to the costs of services rendered and are recognized as revenue when the services or goods are delivered. 

 
Annuities Payable and Trusts Held by Others 
 
Certain gift annuities, charitable lead and remainder annuity trust agreements have been entered into with donors.  
Assets reported under these agreements are valued at fair value based on either the present value of expected 
cash flows or the value of the University’s share of the underlying assets.  These assets are included in trusts 
held by others on the statements of financial position, except for gift annuities which are included in cash and 
cash equivalents and investments.  Gift annuities included in cash and cash equivalents, and investments totaled 
$17.1 and $20.7 million at May 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.  Generally, revenue from gift annuities and trusts 
is recognized at the date the agreements are established net of liabilities for the present value of the estimated 
future payments to donors and/or other beneficiaries. 
 
The liabilities are adjusted during the term of the gift annuities for changes in the value of the assets, accretion of 
the discount, and other changes in the estimates of future benefits. 
 
The University is also the beneficiary of certain perpetual trusts which are also included in trusts held by others 
on the statements of financial position.  The fair value of the trusts, which are based on either the present value 
of the estimated future cash receipts or the fair value of the assets held in the trust, are recognized as assets and 
gift and trust revenue as of the date the University is notified of the establishment of the trust.  The carrying value 
of the assets is adjusted for changes in fair value. 
 
 
Medical School 
 
Faculty physicians, in addition to teaching and conducting research, engage in the practice of medicine, which 
generates patient care revenue.  Revenues and expenses, including compensation and administrative operations 
from the practice of medicine, are reflected as University revenues and expenses.   
 
The University and the Public Health Trust of Miami-Dade County, Florida (PHT), owner and operator of Jackson 
Memorial Hospital (JMH), have entered into an affiliation agreement related to their independent missions within 
the designated land and facilities that comprise the Jackson Memorial Medical Center.  Pursuant to that 
agreement, the PHT provides clinical facilities for the teaching of the University’s medical students.  Medical 
education of its students is the sole responsibility of the University.  In addition, the University has agreed to 
permit its faculty to apply for privileges at JMH to train and supervise JMH house staff (interns, residents, and 
fellows) and to treat hospital patients in their capacity as members of JMH’s attending medical staff.  All such 
treatment and training is the sole responsibility of the PHT in its capacity as the legal owner and operator of the 
Jackson Health System’s public hospitals and clinics and its statutory teaching hospital (JMH).  The affiliation 
agreement provides the terms for the mutual reimbursement of services provided. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND REPORTING PRACTICES 

(Continued) 
 

Insurance 
 
The University manages property and liability risks through a combination of commercial insurance policies and 
self-insurance. 
 
The University is self-insured for medical professional liability and maintains commercial excess loss coverage 
within specified limits.  Provisions for medical professional liability claims and related costs are based on several 
factors, including an annual actuarial study using a discount rate of 3.0% at May 31, 2016 and 2015. 

 
Property and Equipment 
 
Property and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization.  Depreciation is 
computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the related assets.  Depreciation is not 
recorded on land, art objects and construction in progress.  Leasehold improvements are amortized over the 
lesser of the lease term or the useful life. 
 
Cost associated with the development and installation of internal-use software are accounted for in accordance 
with the Intangibles – Goodwill and Other, Internal Use Software subtopic of the FASB ASC.  Accordingly, internal-
use software costs are expensed or capitalized according to the provisions of the accounting standard.  
Capitalized software costs are included in computers and software.   
 
Facilities and Administrative Cost Recovery 
 
 

The Federal government reimburses the University for facilities and administrative costs incurred in connection 
with research grants and contracts based on approved rates through 2016.  Facilities and administrative cost 
recovery from government and private sources included in grants and contracts revenues totaled $65.7 and $64.0 
million during the years ended May 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. 

 
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets 
 
U.S. GAAP requires that long-lived assets held by an entity, including intangible assets, be reviewed for 
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset group 
may not be recoverable.  No asset impairments were recorded by the University in fiscal years 2016 and 2015.  
 
Recent Accounting Pronouncements 
 
In May 2015, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 
2015-07, Disclosures for Investments in Certain Entities That Calculate Net Asset Value per Share (or its 
equivalent). This ASU amends the fair value accounting rules to remove the requirement to categorize within the 
fair value hierarchy all investments for which fair value is measured using the net asset value per share as a 
practical expedient.  The University adopted this standard for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2016 and retroactively 
applied to May 31, 2015. 
 
Effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2015, the FASB issued an 
amendment to “ASU No. 2015-03, Interest—Imputation of Interest (Subtopic 835-30): Simplifying the Presentation 
of Debt Issuance Costs” (ASU 2015-03).  ASU 2015-03 requires that debt issuance costs related to a recognized 
debt liability be presented in the balance sheet as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of that debt liability, 
consistent with debt discounts. The recognition and measurement guidance for debt issuance costs are not 
affected by the amendments in this ASU 2015-03. Although the University is not required to adopt this standard 
until the fiscal year ending May 31, 2017, the University decided to adopt this standard for the fiscal year ended 
May 31, 2016, and retroactively applied to May 31, 2015.   
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND REPORTING PRACTICES 

(Continued) 
 
Recent Accounting Pronouncements (Continued) 
 
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842). The guidance in this ASU supersedes the 
leasing guidance in Topic 840, Leases. Under the new guidance, lessees are required to recognize lease assets 
and lease liabilities on the balance sheet for all leases with terms longer than 12 months. Leases will be classified 
as either finance or operating, with classification affecting the pattern of expense recognition in the income 
statement. The new standard is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018.  We are currently 
evaluating the impact of our pending adoption of the new standard on our financial statements. 

 
In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606), requiring an 
entity to recognize the amount of revenue to which it expects to be entitled for the transfer of promised goods or 
services to customers. The updated standard will replace most existing revenue recognition guidance in U.S. 
GAAP when it becomes effective and permits the use of either a full retrospective or retrospective with cumulative 
effect transition method. In August 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-14 which defers the effective date of ASU 
2014-09 one year making it effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017. The 
University has not yet selected a transition method and is currently evaluating the effect that the standard will have 
on the financial statements. 

 
Subsequent events   
 
The University evaluated events and transactions occurring subsequent to May 31, 2016, through August 25, 
2016, the date of issuance of the financial statements. During this period, there were no subsequent events 
requiring recognition or disclosure in the financial statements. 
 
Reclassifications 
 
Certain amounts in the prior year’s financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s 
presentation. 

 
3.  ACCOUNTS AND LOANS RECEIVABLE 
 
  At May 31, accounts and loans receivable consist of the following (in millions): 
 

2016 2015

Patient care 254.6$         235.3$         
Grants, contracts and other 109.8           100.4           
Shared appreciation mortgages 26.8             31.4             
Student 17.5             15.0             

Student loans, net 29.1             28.6             

Total 437.8$         410.7$         

Accounts and loans receivable, net:
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3.  ACCOUNTS AND LOANS RECEIVABLE (Continued) 

 
Approximately 12.4% and 11.9% of receivables was derived from services rendered under the Medicare program 
during the years ended May 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. 
 
Accounts and loans receivable, and student loans receivable are net of allowances for doubtful accounts of $146.0 
and $.6 million, respectively, for 2016 and $127.2 and $.6 million, respectively, for 2015. 
 
Shared appreciation mortgages were provided as part of a program to attract and retain excellent faculty and 
senior administrators through home mortgage financing assistance.  Shared appreciation notes amounting to 
$29.3 and $33.9 million (gross of $2.5 million allowance for doubtful accounts) at May 31, 2016 and 2015, 
respectively, from University faculty and senior administrators are collateralized by second mortgages on 
residential properties.  The program was suspended effective December 31, 2008 with limited exceptions. 
 
Student loans are made primarily pursuant to federal programs and availability of funding.  The related receivables 
have significant government restrictions as to marketability, interest rates, and repayment terms.  Their fair value 
is not readily determinable. 

 
4. CONTRIBUTIONS RECEIVABLE (PLEDGES) 
 

Unconditional pledges are recorded at the present value of their future cash flows using a discount rate 
commensurate with the risk involved at the time the pledge is recorded.  They are expected to be realized in the 
following periods at May 31, (in millions): 
 

 

2016 2015
In one year or less 43.5$            44.8$            
Between one year and five years                                                                     86.0              99.8              
More than five years                                                                                          58.2              56.1              

187.7            200.7            
Discount of $23.2 and allowance of doubtful pledges
    $17.6 for 2016 and $20.6 and $21.8 for 2015, respectively                     (40.8)             (42.4)             

Total 146.9$          158.3$         
 

 
The methodology for calculating the allowance is based on the administration’s review of individually significant 
outstanding pledges, analysis of the aging of payment schedules for all outstanding pledges, as well as other 
factors including current economic conditions. 

5. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 

 
The valuation methodologies used for other investment instruments measured at fair value consisted of: 
 

Variable Rate Swap Agreement 

 
The University entered into an interest rate swap agreement on October 25, 2004 to manage the market risk 
associated with outstanding variable-rate debt.  The swap agreement provides that the University receive a 
variable rate based on 3-month LIBOR and pay a fixed rate of 4.2% and matures on April 3, 2034.  Parties to the 
interest rate swap agreement are subject to market risk for changes in interest rates as well as risk of credit loss 
in the event of nonperformance by the counterparty.  The University deals only with high quality counterparties 
that meet rating criteria for financial stability and creditworthiness.  The estimated cumulative fair value loss of the 
swap agreement was $4.7 and $4.4 million for the years ended May 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively, and is 
included in other investments, net in the tables that follow.  Changes in the fair value, which for fiscal year 2016 
and 2015 amounted to an unrealized loss of $(.3) and $(.3) million, respectively, are recorded as non-operating 
activities in the statements of activities. The notional amount was $16.6 and $17.3 million for fiscal year 2016 and 
2015, respectively. 
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5. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 

 
Fair Value Measurements 
 
Investments 

The fair market value of investments at May 31, 2016 and 2015 amounted to $994.4 and $1,133.9 million, with a 
cost basis of $933.8 and $996.0 million, respectively.  Short term investments consist primarily of commercial 
paper and U.S. Treasury securities with original maturities when purchased in excess of three months.  Categories 
included in limited partnerships and limited liability companies and other investments, represent alternative 
investments which are valued at the net asset value (NAV) of the entities as determined by the fund managers.  
The majority of investments are combined in investment pools with each individual account subscribing to or 
disposing of shares on the basis of the fair value per share.  At May 31, 2016 and 2015, the fair value of the 
University’s primary investment pool (the Growth Pool) amounted to $854.3 and $1,003.7 million, with a cost 
basis of $796.3 and $871.8 million, respectively.  The Growth Pool is managed by multiple investment managers 
with asset allocation per the University’s investment policy.  The total net unrealized gain 
(loss) on investments for the years ended May 31, 2016 and 2015 was $(77.4) and $(59.5) million, respectively.   
 
FASB ASC 820 provides the framework for measuring fair value. That framework provides a fair value hierarchy 
that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The hierarchy gives the highest 
priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and 
the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurements).  The following describes the hierarchy of 
inputs used to measure fair value and the primary valuation methodologies used by the University for investments 
measured at fair value: 

 
Level 1 — Valuations for assets and liabilities traded in active exchange markets, such as the New York Stock 
Exchange.  Level 1 also includes U.S. Treasury and federal agency securities and federal agency mortgage-
backed securities, which are traded by dealers or brokers in active markets.  Inputs to the valuation 
methodologies include unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that are 
accessible at the measurement date.     

Level 2 — Valuations for assets traded in less active dealer or broker markets.  Inputs to the valuation 
methodologies include quoted prices from third party pricing services for identical or similar assets in active 
and/or inactive markets; inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability; or inputs 
that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data by correlation or other means. 

Level 3 — primarily consists of trusts recorded at fair value based on the underlying value of the assets in the 
trust or discounted cash flow of the expected payment streams. The trusts reported at Level 3 are primarily 
perpetual trusts managed by third parties invested in stocks, mutual funds, and fixed income securities that 
are traded in active markets with observable inputs, which would result in Level 1 and 2 hierarchal reporting. 
However, since the University will never receive the trust assets, these perpetual trusts are reported as Level 
3. 

 

The University uses the NAV of hedge funds and limited partnerships as fair value as a practical expedient except 
where certain conditions exist. Those conditions include, changes to key personnel, material amendments to key 
terms, material pending litigations, imposition of gates and redemption fees. Investments recorded at NAV are 
not classified in the fair value hierarchy. 
   
The level in the fair value hierarchy within which a fair value measurement in its entirety falls is based on the 
lowest level of any input that is significant to the fair value measurement.  The University utilizes valuation 
techniques that maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs.  There have 
been no changes in the methodologies used at May 31, 2016.   
 
During the years ended May 31, 2016 and 2015 there were no significant transfers between categories.  
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5. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 
 

Fair Value Measurements (continued) 
 
Investments 

 

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Assets:

Short term investments   $  111.8         $  100.0       $  11.8          $  -           
Corporate bonds 43.0         -           43.0        -           
Debt securities:

U.S. treasury & other government agencies      .2      .2  -   -           
Issued by foreign government      .1 -                .1 -           

Publicly traded stocks: -           
Large-mid cap 48.8         48.8       -            -           
Small cap 27.0         27.0       -            -           

Mutual funds:
Equities:

Emerging markets 19.9         -           19.9        -           
International 73.2         -           73.2        -           
Large-mid cap 72.2         -           72.2        -           
Small cap 31.9         -           31.9        -           

Fixed income 63.9         -           63.9        -           
Balanced      .9 -                .9 -           

Multi-asset funds measured at NAV 1 8.7           -           -            -           
Limited partnerships and limited 
  liability  companies:

Equities:
Emerging markets measured at NAV 1 44.9         -           -            -           
International measured at NAV 1 127.6       -           -            -           
Large-mid cap measured at NAV 1 101.8       -           -            -           

Fixed income measured at NAV 1 56.5         -           -            -           
Private equity measured at NAV 1 27.2         -           -            -           
Other:    

Event arbitrage measured at NAV 1 47.6         -           -            -           
Long-short composite measured at NAV1 50.6         -           -            -           
Real assets related securities measured
   at NAV 1 26.1         -           -            -           
Real estate measured at NAV 1 13.3         -           -            -           

Other investments (2.8)          -           -            -           
Total investments 994.4       176.0     316.9      -           

Trusts held by others 45.6         -           -            45.6       

Total assets   $  1,040.0      $  176.0       $  316.9        $  45.6       

Fair Value Measurement at May 31, 2016 
(in millions)
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5. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 
 
Fair Value Measurements (continued) 
 
Investments 

 

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Assets:

Short term investments $ 33.4           $  14.0       
  

$ 19.4          $  -           

Corporate bonds 73.7         -           73.7        -           
Debt securities:

U.S. treasury & other government agencies 16.8         16.8       -            -           
Issued by foreign government      .1 -                .1 -           

Publicly traded stocks:
Large-mid cap 77.9         77.9       -            -           
Small cap 29.3         29.3       -            -           

Mutual funds:
Equities:

Emerging markets 24.5         -           24.5        -           
International 80.5         -           80.5        -           
Large-mid cap 72.3         -           72.3        -           
Small cap 33.9         -           33.9        -           

Fixed income 63.2         -           63.2        -           
Balanced      .9 -                .9 -           

Multi-asset funds measured at NAV 1 9.4           -           -            -           
Limited partnerships and limited 
  liability companies:

Equities:
Emerging markets measured at NAV 1 51.5         -           -            -           
International measured at NAV 1 136.7       -           -            -           
Large-mid cap measured at NAV 1 103.6       -           -            -           

Fixed income measured at NAV 1 79.7         -           -            -           
Private equity measured at NAV 1 31.5         -           -            -           
Other:

Event arbitrage measured at NAV 1 66.3         -           -            -           
Long-short composite measured at NAV 1 84.9         -           -            -           
Real assets related securities measured 46.2         -           -            -           
  at NAV 1

Real estate measured at NAV 1 20.0         -           -            -           
Other investments (2.4)           -   -   -  

Total investments 1,133.9    138.0     368.5      -           

Trusts held by others 49.1         -           -            49.1       
Total assets $ 1,183.0     $ 138.0      $ 368.5       $ 49.1       

Fair Value Measurement at May 31, 
2015 (in millions)

 
 

 

1 In accordance with ASC Subtopic 820-10, certain investments that are measured at fair value using the net asset 
value per share practical expedient have not been classified in the fair value hierarchy. The fair value amounts 
presented in this table are intended to permit reconciliation of the fair value hierarchy to the amounts presented in 
the statements of financial position.  

  



UNIVERSITY OF MIAMI 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

May 31, 2016 and 2015 

14 

 
5. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 
 

Fair Value Measurements (continued) 
 
Investments 

The following tables set forth a summary of changes in the fair value of the University’s level 3 assets which are 
valued at net asset value:  
 

 
 

 
There were no other issuances and settlements for the years ended May 31, 2016 and 2015. 
 
The total level 3 change in value related to trusts held by others at May 31, 2016 and 2015 total $(3.5) and $.6 
million, respectively, and are reflected as part of investment return and changes in value of annuities payable and 
trusts held by others in the statements of activities. 
 

The following tables summarize the University’s investments whose fair value is reported using net asset value 
per share (in millions) using the practical expedient:  
 

Investments: Fair Value Redemption 
Frequency Days Notice

Limited partnerships and limited 
liability  companies:

Equities:
Emerging markets (a) 44.9$       -$                (M)  10-30 days 
International (b) 127.6       -                  (M)  5-6 days 
Large-mid cap (c) 101.8       -                 (Q)  60 days 

Fixed income (d) 56.5         -                  (M)  10-90 days 
Private equity (e) 27.2         13.1              *  N/A 
Other:

Event arbitrage (f) 47.6         -                 (Q)  65-90 days 
Long-short composite (g) 50.6         -                  (Q), (A)  45-60 days 
Real assets related

securities  (h) 26.1         
Real estate (i) 13.3         4.4                *  N/A 

Multi-asset funds 8.7           -                  (D)  1 day 
Other investments (2.8)          -                  N/A  N/A 
Total investments 501.5$     25.1             

At May 31, 2016
Future 

Commitments

7.6                (M) *  10-60 days 

 
  

Trusts held by others
May 31, 2014 48.5$                              

Net unrealized gain included in net assets      .6

May 31, 2015 49.1$                              

Net unrealized losses included in net assets (3.5)                                  
May 31, 2016 45.6$                              
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5. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 
 

Fair Value Measurements (continued) 
 

Investments 

 

Investments: Fair Value Redemption 
Frequency Days Notice

Limited partnerships and limited 
liability  companies:

Equities:
Emerging markets (a) 51.5$       -$                (M)  10-30 days 
International (b) 136.7       -                  (M)  5-6 days 
Large-mid cap (c) 103.6       -                 (Q)  60 days 

Fixed income (d) 79.7         -                  (M), (A)  10-90 days 
Private equity (e) 31.5         13.3              *  N/A 
Other:

Event arbitrage (f) 66.3         -                 (Q)  65-90 days 
Long-short composite (g) 84.9         -                  (Q), (A)  45-60 days 
Real assets related

securities  (h)
Real estate (i) 20.0         4.1                *  N/A 

Multi-asset funds 9.4           -                  (D)  1 day 
Other investments (2.4)          -                  N/A  N/A 
Total investments 627.4$     26.8$           

At May 31, 2015
Future 

Commitments

46.2         9.4                (M), (Q) *  10-60 days 

 
 

Redemption Frequency:  (A) Annually, (Q) Quarterly, (M) Monthly, (D) Daily.   

 
(*) The expected liquidation date for these assets range from 2016 to 2028 and are based on a combination of 
the inception date of the fund and the expected life of the fund as outlined in the partnership agreement inclusive 
of the manager's ability to extend the fund's life. 
 
(a) This class consists of investments in small and mid-cap equities domiciled in or with significant underlying 
exposure to emerging markets.  The firms utilize a fundamental, bottom-up process and focus on finding quality 
companies at compelling valuations.  

(b) This class consists of investments in equities domiciled outside of the United States.  The firms may utilize 
all-cap, all-style strategy or may focus on narrower strategies, but all funds have a long time horizon.   

(c) This class follows a highly diversified strategy with more than 1,000 holdings held across the independently 
constructed analyst portfolios. Overall investments are geared to be long/short beta neutral with exposures in line 
with the S&P 500.  

(d) This class consists of investments in debt securities. Some firms focus on buying government bonds 
throughout the world and may also engage in currency hedges and may do so via futures. Other firms focus on 
buying below investment grade corporate debt.   

(e) This class consists of investments in private equity.  These firms will make direct investments in private 
companies or in one case the firm manages a fund of funds that makes commitments to other private equity, 
venture capital and buyout funds.  These firms invest across all sectors in both the US and globally. The portfolios 
are illiquid and will be locked for 10 – 12 years.   

(f) This class consists of event arbitrage firms that invest in equity and credit securities.   The strategy utilizes a 
bottom up process where each position is judged on its relative risk/reward versus short term interest rates.   

(g) This class consists of hedge funds that focus on decentralized stock selection, predominately long equity 
strategy with some opportunistic debt investing.  Firms typically hold 10-20 long positions and 5-15 shorts 
positions, with a gross exposure usually below 140%, focused on the small and mid-cap portion of the market. 
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5. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 
 

Fair Value Measurements (continued) 
 
(h) This class consists of investments that hedge inflation through the holding of real assets directly or indirectly. 
Indirectly holding may occur through a fund of funds with underlying holdings in publicly traded mutual funds that 
invest commodity markets, fixed income securities, and equities. Direct holding may occur through direct 
investment in private companies in the energy and mining sector. The later holding is illiquid and will be locked 
for 10 – 12 years.   

(i) This class consists of investments in underlying properties via debt and/or equity positions.  These firms look 
to uncover real estate opportunities in traditional properties (commercial, residential, industrial, etc.) but will also 
look for more unique opportunities.  The firms vary in focus from regional to global.  These investments are illiquid 
and will typically exist for 10 – 12 years. 

 
The University’s investment policy and strategy for its investments, as established by the Investment Committee 
(the Committee) of the Board and ratified by the Executive Committee of the Board, is to provide for growth of 
capital with a moderate level of volatility by investing assets based on its target allocations.  The weighted average 
target allocations for University assets is 55.0% equity securities, 10.0% fixed income, and 35.0% other 
investments.  Equity securities include investments in large-mid cap and small cap companies primarily located 
in the United States, as well as international companies similar to the S&P 500, Russell 2000 and MSCI Indexes.  
Fixed income securities include corporate bonds of companies from diversified industries, mortgage-backed 
securities, and U.S. treasuries similar to the Barclays Capital Aggregate and Citigroup World Gov’t Bond Indexes.  
Other investments include private equity funds, real estate funds, and hedge funds similar to those of the HFRI 
Fund of Funds, S&P 500, DJ/UBS Commodity, and NCREIF Property Indexes.  Investments periodically are 
rebalanced to meet established target allocations.  In addition, the Committee reviews its investment policy and 
target allocations periodically and effects changes when required, to ensure that strategic objectives are achieved.   
 
Investment Return  

 
The University’s endowment spending distribution policy is to distribute five percent of the three-year moving 
average fair market value of the endowment investment pool.  This policy is designed to protect the purchasing 
power of the endowment and to minimize the effect of capital market fluctuations on operating budgets. 

 
The components of total investment return as reflected in the statements of activities are as follows (in millions): 
 

2016 2015
Operating:

Endowment spending distribution $ 38.4               $ 34.9               
Investment return      .1 4.8                 

Total operating investment return 38.5               39.7               
Non-Operating:

Unrestricted:
Endowment interest and dividend income, realized and unrealized

 losses, net of endowment spending distribution (21.4)              (2.9)                
Other net realized and unrealized gains (losses) (8.7)                2.7                 

Total unrestricted non-operating investment return (30.1) (.2)
Temporarily restricted:

Investment loss, net of endowment spending distribution (58.3)              (7.9)                
Endowment distributions reinvested 2.8                 2.6                 

Permanently restricted investment return (2.9) .5
Total non-operating investment loss (88.5)              (5.0)                

Total investment return $ (50.0)              $ 34.7               
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6. FAIR VALUE OF OTHER FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  
 
The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, patient, student and other receivables, accounts payable 
and accrued expenses approximate fair value due to the short maturity of these financial instruments.  The 
carrying amounts of notes payable with variable interest rates approximate their fair value since the variable rates 
reflect current market rates for notes with similar maturities and credit quality.  The fair value of bonds payable 
with fixed interest rates, which is classified as level 2 within the fair value hierarchy, is based on rates assumed 
to be currently available for bond issues with similar terms and average maturities.  The estimated fair value of 
these bonds payable at May 31, 2016 and 2015 approximated $1,142.9 and $851.5 million, respectively.  The 
carrying amounts of these bonds payable at May 31, 2016 and 2015 were $1,030.5 and $819.3 million, 
respectively.   

 
7. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 
 

Property and equipment and related accumulated depreciation and amortization at May 31 consist of the following 
(in millions): 
 

Useful Lives 2016 2015
Land - $ 90.1           $ 87.4          
Land improvements 20 years 115.7         111.0        
Buildings and building improvements 8 to 50 years 1,866.2      1,800.1     
Leasehold improvements 1 to 50 years 50.0           49.8          
Construction in progress - 189.1         137.0        
Moveable equipment 3 to 20 years 580.5         556.8        
Computers and software 5 to 15 years 169.3         158.1        
Library materials 12 years 114.0         116.5        
Art objects - 56.1           55.7          

3,231.0      3,072.4     
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (1,509.2)         (1,408.3)
Total $       1,721.8 $       1,664.1 

 
 

Interest on borrowings is capitalized during construction, net of any project specific borrowings’ investment income 
earned through the temporary investment of project borrowings.  Net interest expense of $6.4 and $4.2 million 
was capitalized for the years ended May 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.  

 
8. ENDOWMENT  
  

As required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, net assets associated 
with endowment funds, including funds designated by the Board to function as endowments, are classified and 
reported based on the existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions. 
 
Quasi endowment funds are resources segregated for long-term investment and include investment return on 
unrestricted investments, and other resources designated by the Board for future programs and operations. 
 
Spending Policy 
 
The University’s endowment spending distribution policy in support of its programs is to distribute five percent of 
the three-year moving average fair market value of the endowment investment pool.  New endowments must be 
received prior to December 31 in order to activate the spending distribution for the next fiscal year.  In addition, 
no distribution is made from an endowment until its funding reaches, by December 31, the level stipulated by 
policy. Further, endowments to establish Chairs and Professorships have an additional delay of one year before 
distributions are made.        
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8. ENDOWMENT (Continued) 

 
Return Objectives and Risk Parameters 
 
The University has adopted investment and spending policies to protect the purchasing power of the endowment 
and to minimize the effect of capital market fluctuations on operating budgets.   

 
The intent of the University’s policy for its primary investment pool (the Growth Pool), as approved by the Board, 
is to achieve a rate of return equal to or greater than the respective benchmark, while assuming a moderate level 
of risk.  To satisfy its long-term rate-of-return objectives, the University relies on a total return strategy in which 
investment returns are achieved through both capital appreciation (realized and unrealized) and current yield 
(interest and dividends).  The University targets a diversified asset allocation that places a greater emphasis on 
equity based investments to achieve its long-term return objectives within prudent risk constraints.  The current 
long-term return objective is to earn a return of at least the Consumer Price Index plus 5%, net of fees.  Actual 
returns in any given year may vary from this amount. 
 
Application of Relevant Law 
 
The Board’s interpretation of its fiduciary responsibilities for donor-restricted endowments under Uniform Prudent 
Management of Institutional Funds Act in Florida (FL UPMIFA) is that it is required to use reasonable care and 
caution as would be exercised by a prudent investor, in considering the investment management and 
expenditures of endowment funds.  In accordance with FL UPMIFA, the Board may expend so much of an 
endowment fund as the Board determines to be prudent for the uses and purposes for which the endowment fund 
is established, consistent with the goal of conserving the long-term purchasing power of the endowment fund.    
 
FL UPMIFA specifies that unless stated otherwise in the gift instrument, donor-restricted assets in an endowment 
fund are restricted assets until appropriated for expenditure.  Barring the existence of specific instructions in gift 
agreements for donor-restricted endowments, the University’s policy is to report (a) the historical value for such 
endowments as permanently restricted net assets and (b) the net accumulated appreciation as temporarily 
restricted net assets.  The amounts appropriated for expenditure are based on the endowment spending rate per 
unit and the number of units for each fund.   
 
The unspent market appreciation of donor-restricted endowment funds is presented as temporarily restricted net 
assets until appropriated for expenditure by the University. When losses on the investments of a donor-restricted 
endowment fund exceed the net appreciation classified in temporarily restricted net assets, the excess loss 
reduces unrestricted net assets. Gains that restore the fair value of the assets of the endowment fund to the fund's 
required level (historic dollar value) are classified as an increase to the same class of net assets that was 
previously reduced for the excess loss - unrestricted net assets. After the fair value of the assets of the endowment 
fund equals the required level, gains are again available for expenditure, and those gains that are restricted by 
the donor are classified as increases in temporarily restricted net assets. 
 
At May 31, 2016 and 2015, the net deficiency in the market value of certain endowment related assets which fell 
below the donor required level amounted to $5.8 and $.8 million, respectively, and resulted from unfavorable 
market fluctuations that occurred shortly after the investment of new permanently restricted contributions, as well 
as continued appropriations for certain programs deemed prudent by the University. 
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8. ENDOWMENT (Continued) 
 

Endowment net assets consist of the following (in millions): 
 

Unrestricted
Temporarily 
Restricted

Permanently 
Restricted Total

At May 31, 2015:

Donor-restricted endowment funds:

At historical value $ -               $    30.3 $    416.1 $    446.4

Accumulated net (depreciation) appreciation (.8)    258.1 -                  257.3

Quasi endowment funds    183.6 -              -                  183.6

Total $    182.8 $    288.4 $    416.1 $    887.3

At May 31, 2016:

Donor-restricted endowment funds:

At historical value $ -               $ 34.3            $ 444.0           $    478.3

Accumulated net (depreciation) appreciation (5.8)              203.2         -                  197.4

Quasi endowment funds    168.9 -              -                  168.9
Total $    163.1 $    237.5 $    444.0 $    844.6

 
 
Changes in endowment net assets for the fiscal years ended May 31, 2016 and 2015 consist of (in millions):  
        
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
  

Unrestricted
Temporarily 
Restricted

Permanently 
Restricted Total

Balance,  May 31, 2014 $    186.2 $    292.5 $    386.7 $    865.4
Endowment investment return:

 Investment income    1.1    4.5 -                    5.6
 Net appreciation (realized and unrealized)    4.0    17.2 -                    21.2

Total investment return    5.1    21.7 -                    26.8
Gifts and Trusts -                  1.8    28.9    30.7
Endowment spending distribution for programs (8.1) (29.5) -                 (37.6)
Endowment distributions reinvested    .1    2.6 -                    2.7
Net transfers from quasi endowment funds (.5) -               -                 (.5)
Other -               (.7)    .5 (.2)

Balance, May 31, 2015 $    182.8 $    288.4 $    416.1 $    887.3
Endowment investment return:

 Investment income 2.3               8.7               -                    11.0
 Net depreciation (realized and unrealized) (15.3)           (33.0)            -                 (48.3)

Total investment return (13.0) (24.3) -                 (37.3)
Gifts and Trusts    .1 4.0               27.1                  31.2
Endowment spending distribution for programs (8.5)              (32.7)            -                 (41.2)
Endowment distributions reinvested    .1 2.8               -                    2.9
Net transfers to quasi endowment funds 1.6               -               -                    1.6
Other -               (.7)    .8    .1

Balance, May 31, 2016 $    163.1 $    237.5 $    444.0 $    844.6
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9.       PENSION AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS 
 

The University has two non-contributory retirement plans, the Faculty Retirement Plan and the Employee 
Retirement Plan.  These two plans were closed to employees hired after May 31, 2007.  Effective June 1, 2007 
a new retirement plan was established, the Retirement Savings Plan. 
 
The University also sponsors an unfunded, defined benefit postretirement health plan that covers all full-time and 
part-time regular employees who elect coverage and satisfy the plan’s eligibility requirements when they retire.  
The plan is contributory with retiree contributions established as a percentage of the total cost for retiree health 
care and for the health care of their dependents.  The University pays all benefits on a current basis.  
  
The Retirement Savings Plan (Savings Plan) is a defined contribution plan in which the University makes an 
automatic core contribution of 5% of pay with a dollar-for-dollar match on voluntary contributions up to an 
additional 5% of pay once the employee meets certain eligibility requirements.  Eligible employees can begin 
making voluntary contributions to the Savings Plan at any time.  Participation is limited to faculty and staff hired 
on or after June 1, 2007 or who elected, prior to June 1, 2007, to transfer to this plan from the Faculty Retirement 
Plan or from the Employee Retirement Plan. Core and matching contributions to the Savings Plan for 2016 and 
2015 were $46.5 and $43.5 million, respectively. 
 
The Retirement Savings Plan II (Savings Plan II) is a defined contribution plan the University established, 
effective January 1, 2008, that covers substantially all employees of the University of Miami Hospital (UMH).  The 
plan is available to employees who meet certain eligibility requirements and requires that UMH match certain 
percentages of participants’ contributions up to certain maximum levels.  Eligible employees can begin making 
voluntary contributions to the Savings Plan II at any time.  Core and matching contributions to the Savings Plan 
II were $6.7 and $6.5 million for the years ended May 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.   
 
Faculty Retirement Plan (Faculty Plan) is a defined contribution plan for eligible faculty hired between 
September 30, 1977 and May 31, 2007, and certain faculty hired on or before September 30, 1977, who ceased 
participation in the Employee Retirement Plan.  Under the terms of the Faculty Plan, the University makes 
contributions to individual retirement accounts for each eligible faculty member.  Payment from the retirement 
account commences when the faculty member has separated from service and elects to begin distributions in 
accordance with plan provisions.   
 
Contributions to the Faculty Plan are based upon a combination of compensation, tenure status, length of service, 
and other factors and are funded as accrued.  These contributions were $22.9 and $24.6 million for the years 
ended May 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.  In addition to the above noted plans, there are deferred 
compensation arrangements for certain employees, principally clinical faculty, the liability for which is included in 
other liabilities.   
 
The Employee Retirement Plan (Employee Plan) is a defined benefit plan primarily for full-time non-faculty 
employees hired before June 1, 2007.  Employee Plan assets are held by a Trustee.  The benefit is based on the 
higher of two formulas:  a formula based on years of service and the employee's compensation for the consecutive 
five year period of employment that produces the highest average; and a cash balance benefit formula determined 
each year based on compensation and investment earnings.   
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9.  PENSION AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS (Continued) 

 
 
On April 29, 2014, the Employee Plan was also amended to allow all terminated vested employees a one-time 
opportunity, during a 60-day window ending May 31, 2015, to cash out their benefit without having to reach the 
normal retirement date.  The Employee Plan was amended on April 29, 2014 to transfer employees from the 
Employee Plan to the Savings Plan at time of long term disability approval effective June 1, 2014. The amounts 
settled approximated $43.5 million, which was less than the sum of the service cost and the interest cost.  
Therefore, settlement accounting was not required. 
 
On June 2, 2014, the Employee Plan was amended to eliminate benefit accruals for participants who become 
eligible for disability benefits under the University’s Long-Term Disability Plan on or after June 1, 2014.  This 
amendment also extended the meaning of “spouse” to include a person of the same-sex or gender. 
 
On April 30, 2015, the Employee Plan was amended to allow full lump sum payments for participants’ whose 
pension starting date occurs on or after June 1, 2015. In addition, participants who had previously taken partial 
or hardship lump sum payments may elect to take any residual benefit as a lump sum.  
 
The measurement date for the Employee Plan and postretirement health plan is May 31 for fiscal years 2016 
and 2015. 
 
The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, are expected to be paid, for the fiscal 
years ending May 31 (in millions): 

 
 

 
 
The University expects to contribute $50.0 million to the Employee Plan and $.1 million to its postretirement health 
plan during the fiscal year ending May 31, 2017. 
 

 
  

Pension 
Benefits

Postretirement 
Benefits

2017 $ 52.6                $    .1
2018 54.3                   .2
2019        55.7                   .2
2020 56.9                   .2
2021 56.1                   .2

2022-2026 287.5              1.3                    
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9.  PENSION AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS (Continued) 

 
The tables that follow provide a reconciliation of the changes in the plans’ projected benefit obligations, fair value 
of assets and funded status (in millions): 
 

Postretirement
Pension Benefits Benefits

2016 2015 2016 2015
Change in Benefit Obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 928.3 $ 909.6 $ 7.3 $ 6.2
Service cost – benefits attributed to employee service during period             
'   and administrative expenses 19.7 18.9 .5 .6
Interest costs accrued to measure benefit obligation at present value 38.8 38.4 .2 .3
Plan participant contributions -            -            .6 .6
Actuarial loss (gain)  21.5 61.3 (4.3) .3
Benefits paid and administrative expenses (54.8) (73.8) (.6) (.7)
Plan amendments -            (26.1) -            -                
Benefit obligation at end of year 953.5 928.3 3.7 7.3

Change in Plan Assets
Employee Plan assets at fair value at beginning of year 718.0 670.9 -            -                
Investment return on Employee Plan assets (15.4) 21.4 -            -                
Benefits paid and Employee Plan expenses (54.8) (73.8) (.6) (.7)
Employer contributions 49.5 99.5 -            -                
Plan participant contributions -            -            .6 .7
Employee Plan assets at fair value at end of year 697.3 718.0 -            -                

Funded status
Accrued pension and postretirement benefit costs recognized  

on the statements of financial position $ (256.2) $ (210.3) $ (3.7) $ (7.3)

Amounts recognized in unrestricted net assets consist of:
   Net actuarial loss (gain) $ 417.3 $ 351.8 $ (3.9) $ .3
   Prior service credit (37.3) (41.8) (.5) (.5)

$ 380.0 $ 310.0 $ (4.4) $ (.2)
 

 
At May 31, 2016 and 2015, the accumulated benefit obligation of the Employee Plan was $933.7 and $884.9 
million, respectively, $236.4 and $166.9 million, respectively, in excess of Employee Plan assets.    
 
The following table provides the components of net periodic pension cost for the plans (in millions): 
 

Postretirement
Pension Benefits Benefits

2016 2015 2016 2015
Service cost:
Benefits attributed to employee service during periods and                             
'  administrative expenses $ 19.7 $ 18.9 $ .5 $ .6
Interest costs accrued to measure benefit obligation at present value 38.8 38.4 .3 .3
Expected return on Employee Plan assets (54.0) (51.5) -           -            
Amortization of prior service cost/(credit) - includes changes in pension 
formula and cost of Employee Plan amendments (4.5) (4.5) (.1) (.1)
Recognized net actuarial loss 25.4 16.8 (.1) -            

Net periodic benefit cost $ 25.4 $ 18.1 $ .6 $ .8
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9.  PENSION AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS (Continued) 

 
The net actuarial loss and prior service credit expected to be recognized in net periodic benefit cost over the next 
fiscal year are as follows (in millions): 
 

Pension Postretirement
Benefits Benefits

Net actuarial loss (gain) 42.8$                (.2)
Prior service credit (4.5) (.1)

 
      
An 8.0% annual rate of increase in the per capita cost of covered health care benefits was assumed for 2016.  
The rate is assumed to decrease each year until reaching the ultimate of 5.1% in 2097.  Assumed health care 
cost trend rates have an effect on the amounts reported for the health care plan.  A load factor was applied to the 
trend rates to reflect the impact of excise tax in 2020 and beyond.  A 1% change in assumed health care cost 
trend rates would have the following effect (in millions): 
 

 

1% Increase  1% Decrease

Effect on total of service and interest cost components  
  of net periodic postretirement health care benefit cost $            .1 $           (.1)

Effect on the health care component of the accumulated
  postretirement benefit obligation

       
.5 (.4)

 
 
 
The following weighted-average assumptions were used for the above calculations: 
 

Postretirement
Pension Benefits Benefits

2016 2015 2016 2015
Discount rate for benefit obligation 4.00% 4.25% 3.95% 4.20%
Discount rate for net periodic benefit cost 4.25% 4.55% 4.20% 4.40%
Expected return on Employee Plan assets 7.80% 7.80% N/A N/A
Rate of compensation increase related to
  net periodic benefit cost 3.70%/4.20% 3.70%/4.20% N/A N/A  
 
The rate of compensation increase assumption related to the benefit obligation is 2.5% thru fiscal year 2020, and 
3.0% thereafter.  To develop the expected long-term rate of return for the Employee Plan assets, the University 
considered the historical returns of the major market indicators relating to the target asset allocation, as well as 
the current economic and financial market conditions. 
 
The University has elected to adopt mortality tables issued in October 2014 by the Society of Actuaries. The 
mortality assumptions selected are the mixed-collar adjusted RP-2014 sex distinct pre- and post-annuitant 
mortality tables. These rates have been projected to 2014 using one-dimensional Scale BB. These tables 
represent recent mortality experience for a large US population dataset that is reasonably representative of the 
population covered under the Plan. Mortality improvement is also assumed beyond the valuation date because 
recent experience evidenced by Social Security beneficiaries indicates that longevity has continued to improve. 
For years after 2014, generational improvement is projected using scale MP-2014, modified to converge to a 
.75% long term rate of mortality improvement in 2022 for ages 65-84, lesser improvement rates are used at older 
ages.  
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9.  PENSION AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS (Continued) 

 
Employee Plan Assets 
 
The investment policy and strategy, as established by the University, is to provide for growth of capital with a 
moderate level of volatility by investing in various asset classes. The University has adopted a dynamic glide path 
asset allocation.  Each asset class is tied to a dynamic asset allocation using suitable market indices to represent 
each class.   
 
The current glide path asset allocation of Employee Plan assets for a funded ratio of at least but no more than 
85% is as follows:  25% fixed income; 50.5% equities; and 24.5% other investments.  Equity securities include 
registered mutual funds, unregistered limited partnerships, and 103-12 investment entities which invest in large 
cap, mid cap, small cap and emerging companies primarily located in the United States, as well as international 
and emerging markets companies whose benchmarks are tied to the S&P 500, Russell 2000 and MSCI Indexes.  
Fixed income securities include collective investment funds which invest in corporate bonds of companies from 
diversified industries, mortgage-backed securities, and U.S. treasuries whose benchmarks are tied to Barclay’s 
Capital U.S. Credit Index, Barclay’s Capital U.S. Long Gov’t Credit Index, and Barclay’s Capital Strips 15+ Yr 
Index.   Other investments include investments in hedge funds, private equity funds, long-short composites, real 
estate, event arbitrage and common collective trusts investing in real assets related securities similar to those of 
the HFRI Fund of Funds, S&P 500, Bloomberg Commodity Index, and NCREIF Property Index.  The University 
rebalances its investments periodically to meet the glide path allocations.  The University also reviews its 
investment policy periodically to determine if the policy or allocations require change.    
 
During the years ended May 31, 2016 and 2015 there were no significant transfers between the fair value 
hierarchy categories.  See note 5 for fair value measurement narrative disclosures. 
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9.  PENSION AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS (Continued) 

 
Employee Plan Assets (continued) 
 

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Large-mid cap 26.4$         26.4$       -$         -$           
Small cap 19.1           19.1         -           -             

Registered mutual funds:
Equities:
   Emerging markets 13.3           -             13.3       -             
   International 39.6           -             39.6       -             
   Large-mid cap 43.9           -             43.9       -             

Unregistered limited partnerships and limited 
liability companies:

Equities:
   Emerging markets measured at NAV 1 20.2           -             -           -             

Large-mid cap measured at NAV 1 64.3           -             -           -             
Private equity measured at NAV 1 10.7           -             -           -             

Other: 
Event arbitrage measured at NAV 1 27.7           -             -           -             
Real estate measured at NAV 1 7.7             -             -           -             
Long-short composite measured at NAV 1 14.7           -             -           -             

Money market accounts 26.7           26.7         -           -             
Common collective trusts:

Fixed income measured at NAV 1 251.6         -             -           -             
Real assets related securities
  measured at NAV 1 15.0           -             -           -             

103-12 Investment entities:
Equities:

International measured at NAV 1 76.0           -             -           -             
Small cap 30.3           -             30.3       -             

Fixed income measured at NAV 1 6.8             -             -           -             
Other investments

Private equity measured at NAV 1 3.6             -             -           -             
Long-short composite measured 

   at NAV 1      .1 -             -           -             
Fixed income measured at NAV 1      .4 -             -           -             
Real assets related securities measured

   at NAV 1      .1 -             -           -             
Total 698.2$       72.2$       127.1$   -$           

Common stocks:

Fair Value Measurement at May 
31, 2016 (in millions)
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9.  PENSION AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS (Continued) 

 
Employee Plan Assets (continued) 

 

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Large-mid cap 44.5$       44.5$      -$          -$          
Small cap 21.1         21.1        -            -            

Registered mutual funds:
Equities:
   Emerging markets 16.4         -            16.4        -            
   International 43.5         -            43.5        -            
   Large-mid cap 43.2         -            43.2        -            

Unregistered limited partnerships and limited 
liability companies:

Equities:
   Emerging markets measured at NAV 1 23.2         -            -            -            

Large-mid cap measured at NAV 1 65.4         -            -            -            
Private equity measured at NAV 1 12.1         -            -            -            

Other: 
Event arbitrage measured at NAV 1 36.1         -            -            -            
Long-short composite measured at NAV 1 34.8         -            -            -            
Real estate measured at NAV 1 12.0         -            -            -            
Real assets related securities measured
  at NAV 1 8.9           -            -            -            

Money market accounts 17.3         17.3        -            -            
Common collective trusts:

Fixed income measured at NAV 1 187.9       -            -            -            
Real assets related securities measured
  at NAV 1 17.2         -            -            -            

103-12 Investment entities:
Equities:

International measured at NAV 1 81.4         -            -            -            
Small cap 31.6         -            31.6        -            

Fixed income measured at NAV 1 6.9           -            -            -            
Other investments:

Private equity measured at NAV 1 4.2           -            -            -            
Long-short composite measured 

   at NAV 1      .1 -            -            -            
Fixed income measured at NAV 1 10.2         -            -            -            

Real assets related securities 
   measured at NAV 1      .1 -            -            -            

Total 718.1       82.9$      134.7$    -$          

Common stocks:

Fair Value Measurement at 
May 31, 2015 (in millions)

 
1 In accordance with ASC Subtopic 820-10, certain investments that are measured at fair value using the net 
asset value per share practical expedient have not been classified in the fair value hierarchy. The fair value 
amounts presented in this table are intended to permit reconciliation of the fair value hierarchy to the amounts 
presented in the statements of financial position.  
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10.  BONDS AND NOTES PAYABLE 
 
 Bonds and notes payable at May 31 consist of the following (in millions): 
 

 Series Maturity Interest Rate 2016 2015

Miami-Dade County, Florida 2007A to
Educational Facilities Authority 2015B  2016 to 2050 1.58% to 5.75% $ 985.6        $ 788.9        

Notes payable to banks and others - 2016 to 2030 2.0% to 2.38% 14.3          27.8          
Notes payable to banks and others - 2016 to 2021 Variable 111.9        109.5        

Par amount of bonds and notes payable 1,111.8     926.2        
Net unamortized premium 47.2          24.7          
Net unamortized issue costs (7.3)           (7.4)           

Total $ 1,151.7     $ 943.5        
 

The annual maturities for bonds and notes payable at May 31, 2016 are as follows (in millions): 

2017 21.2$        
2018 21.9          
2019 24.5          
2020 42.1          

2021 84.6          

Thereafter 917.5        
Total 1,111.8$   

 

In December 2014, the University borrowed $16.8 million from a bank to refinance an existing note.  The loan has 
a variable interest rate equal to LIBOR Floating Rate plus .80% per annum, and has a maturity date of December 
16, 2019.  The outstanding balance at May 31, 2016 and 2015 was $15.6 and $16.5 million respectively. 

Effective August 4, 2015, the University entered into a $600.0 million senior credit facility with a syndicate of 
lenders, including a new revolving credit facility of $500.0 million and a new Term Loan A of $100.0 million.  The 
$250.0 million Tranche A line of credit has a variable interest rate equal to the LIBOR Daily Floating Rate plus 
0.70% per annum, and has a maturity date of August 4, 2018.  The $250.0 million Tranche B line of credit has a 
variable interest rate equal to the LIBOR Daily Floating Rate plus 1.00% per annum, and has a maturity date of 
August 4, 2020.  The Term Loan A has a variable interest rate equal to LIBOR Daily Floating Rate plus 0.80% 
per annum, and has a maturity date of August 4, 2020.  The pricing for all three tranches are based on a pricing 
grid based on the University’s credit ratings. At May 31, 2016 there were no amounts outstanding on the Tranche 
A and B line of credit.  The outstanding balance for the Term Loan A at May 31, 2016 was $96.3 million. 

 In October 2015, the University issued $403.0 million of Series 2015A, and $258.1 million of Series 2015B 
Revenue and Revenue Refunding Bonds through the Miami-Dade County Educational Facilities Authority 
(MDCEFA).  A portion of the proceeds of the bonds were used to advance refund all of the MDCEFA Series 
2007A and Series 2008A bonds, by transferring sufficient proceeds to an escrow account held by a trustee to be 
used to pay all future debt service on the 2007A and 2008A bonds.  As a result, the 2007A and 2008A bonds are 
considered legally defeased and the liabilities have been removed from these financial statements.  The escrow 
agreement is collateralized by United States Treasury securities.  Although the refunding resulted in a loss on 
early extinguishment of debt of $16.8 million, the new bonds bear lower rates thus achieving significant future 
savings for the University. 
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10. BONDS AND NOTES PAYABLE (Continued) 

 A portion of the proceeds are to be used to finance or refinance all or a part of the costs of the acquisition, 
construction, renovation and equipping of educational, research, medical, healthcare, parking and other facilities 
owned and operated by the University, including an ambulatory care center, the acquisition, installation, and 
implementation of an ERP-Workday system and a nursing simulation hospital.  

 Total interest paid on all bonds and notes was $47.5 and $43.8 million for the years ended May 31, 2016 and 
2015, respectively.  All of the bonds and notes payable listed in the table above are unsecured. 

 
 
11. NET ASSETS 
        
 

 
 
 
 
 
   

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

  
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
12. GIFTS AND TRUSTS  
 

The University’s Advancement Office (Advancement) reports total gifts and trusts based on the Management 
Reporting Standards issued by the Council for Advancement and Support of Education (CASE).  Gifts, trusts, and 
pledges (gifts and trusts) reported for financial statement purposes are recorded on the accrual basis.  

 
  

Unrestricted net assets consist of the following at May 31 (in millions): 2016 2015

Designated for operations, programs, facilities expansion and student loans $ 187.8            $ 130.5            
Cumulative pension and postretirement benefits related changes other than  
'     net periodic benefit cost (375.5)           (309.9)           
Invested in plant facilities 803.9            854.0            

Endowment and similar funds 163.1            182.8            
Total unrestricted net assets $ 779.3            $ 857.4            

2016 2015

Gifts for programs and facilities expansion $ 77.3              $ 29.6              

Contributions (pledges) and trusts 136.7            145.0            

Life income and annuity funds 10.6              11.9              

Endowment and similar funds 237.5            288.4            

Total temporarily restricted net assets $ 462.1            $ 474.9            

Temporarily restricted net assets consist of the following at May 31 (in 
millions):

2016 2015

Contributions (pledges) and trusts $ 55.9              $ 62.4              
Endowment and similar funds 444.0            416.1            

    Total permanently restricted net assets $ 499.9            $ 478.5            

Permanently restricted net assets consist of the following at May 31 (in 
millions):
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12. GIFTS AND TRUSTS (Continued) 

 
The table below summarizes gifts and trusts received for the years ended May 31, 2016 and 2015, reported in 
the statements of activities as well as the CASE standards as reported by Advancement (in millions): 
 

2016 2015
Unrestricted gifts and trusts in support of programs $ 64.5             $ 69.6             
Unrestricted gifts and trusts for plant expansion 8.2               6.4               
Temporarily restricted gifts and trusts for programs and plant expansion 77.6             86.7             
Permanently restricted endowment gifts and trusts 23.3             34.2             

Total gifts and trusts, per statements of activities 173.6           196.9           

Increases (decreases) to reflect gifts and trusts per CASE standards (unaudited):
Pledges, net 13.1             (56.2)            
Non-government grants, included in grants and contracts revenue 44.6             50.6             
Differences in valuation/recording:  

Funds held in trust by others (2.7)              (4.2)              
Annuity .2 .7
Timing 2.6               4.0               

      Donations to supporting organizations recorded under CASE standards only 5.1               2.1               
Total gifts and trusts as reported by Advancement $ 236.5           $ 193.9           

 
 
 

 
13. FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES 
 

Operating expenses are reported in the statements of activities in natural categories.  Functional expenses for 
fiscal years 2016 and 2015 are shown below (in millions): 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Facilities related expenses have been allocated across applicable functional expense categories in the 
statements of activities based on space usage (in millions): 
 

2016 2015
Depreciation $ 136.5           $ 130.9           
Interest 39.7             37.7             
Operations and maintenance 124.8           130.3           
Total $ 301.0           $ 298.9           

 
  

2016 2015

Instruction $ 517.0           $ 503.2           

Research 219.8           205.6           

Public service 138.6           134.1           

Patient care 1,376.2        1,253.5        

Auxiliary enterprises 187.0           169.6           

Academic support 139.8           140.1           

Student services 50.0             44.1             

Institutional support 205.0           236.1           

Total $ 2,833.4        $ 2,686.3        
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14. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 

The University had contractual obligations of approximately $131.1 million at May 31, 2016 for various 
construction projects and purchases of equipment.  The University has also entered into professional service 
agreements with Hospital Corporation of America, Inc. (HCA, Inc.) and various HCA, Inc. affiliates.  Future 
minimum commitments under these agreements range from $3.1 to $10.9 million per year over the next five 
years, totaling $13.9 million.   
 
The University, in its normal operations, is a defendant in various legal actions.  Additionally, amounts received 
and expended under various federal and state programs are subject to audit by governmental agencies. 
Management is of the opinion that the outcome of these matters would not have a material effect on the 
University's financial position or results of operations. 

 
The University leases certain real property.  These leases are classified as operating leases and have lease terms 
ranging up to sixty-eight years.  Total lease expense for the years ended May 31, 2016 and 2015 was $33.8 and 
$32.0 million, respectively.  Future minimum lease payments under noncancelable operating leases at May 31, 
2016 are as follows (in millions): 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2017 13.1$      
2018 11.3         
2019 10.1         
2020 8.7           
2021 8.0           
Thereafter 158.2      
Total 209.4$    
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